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The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Farm Credit Canada (FCC) and all information in this 
annual report are the responsibility of FCC’s management and have been reviewed and approved by the FCC 
Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and, consequently, include amounts that are based on the best estimates and 
judgment of management. Financial information presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that 
contained in the consolidated financial statements.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, management 
maintains financial and management control systems and practices designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
FCC properly authorizes and records transactions, safeguards assets, recognizes liabilities, maintains proper 
records, and complies with applicable laws and conflict of interest rules. The system of internal control is 
augmented by internal audit, which conducts periodic reviews of different aspects of FCC’s operations.

The FCC Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting 
and internal control. It exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee, which is composed of directors 
who are not employees of FCC. The Audit Committee meets with management, internal auditors and external 
auditors on a regular basis. Internal and external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee.

FCC’s independent external auditor, the Auditor General of Canada, is responsible for auditing FCC’s transactions 
and consolidated financial statements and for issuing his report thereon.

Michael Hoffort, P.Ag., ICD.D Rick Hoffman, CPA, CMA, MBA, ICD.D 
President and Executive Vice-President and  
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer

Regina, Canada 
May 30, 2018

Management’s Responsibility for 
Consolidated Financial Statements



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Minister of Agriculture and Agri-Food 

Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

I have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Farm Credit Canada, which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 
31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of 
income, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on my 
audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In my opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Farm Credit Canada as 
at 31 March 2018, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements 

As required by the Financial Administration Act, 
I report that, in my opinion, the accounting 
principles in International Financial Reporting 
Standards have been applied on a basis consistent 
with that of the preceding year.  

Further, in my opinion, the transactions of Farm 
Credit Canada that have come to my notice 
during my audit of the consolidated financial 
statements have, in all significant respects, 
been in accordance with Part X of the Financial 
Administration Act and regulations, the Farm Credit 
Canada Act, the by-laws of Farm Credit Canada, 
and the directives issued pursuant to section 89 
of the Financial Administration Act. 

Heather McManaman, CPA, CA 
Principal 
for the Auditor General of Canada 

30 May 2018 
Ottawa, Canada 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at March 31 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  2018  2017

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 828,569 $ 790,595
Short-term investments (Note 3)  398,207  435,530
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (Note 4)  47,801  399,110
Derivative financial assets (Note 5)  21,512  35,831

   1,296,089  1,661,066

Loans receivable – net (Notes 6 and 8)  33,636,019  31,007,050
Finance leases receivable – net (Notes 7 and 8)  19,613  16,468
Investment in associates (Note 9)  57,765  50,908
Venture capital investments (Note 10)  77,115  55,015
Post-employment benefit assets (Note 11)  50,256  53,536

   33,840,768  31,182,977

Equipment and leasehold improvements (Note 12)  24,513  24,234
Computer software (Note 13)  33,451  32,966
Equipment under operating leases (Note 14)  110,670  90,850
Other assets (Note 15)  12,442  22,179

   181,076  170,229

Total assets $ 35,317,933 $ 33,014,272

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 63,870 $ 60,393
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 5)  –  3

   63,870  60,396

Borrowings (Note 16)
 Short-term debt  10,919,146  10,416,139
 Long-term debt  17,980,195  16,508,032

   28,899,341  26,924,171

Transition loan liabilities  139,319  130,024
Post-employment benefit liabilities (Note 11)  145,281  138,709
Other liabilities (Note 17)  9,586  19,658

   294,186  288,391

Total liabilities  29,257,397  27,272,958

Equity
Contributed surplus  547,725  547,725
Retained earnings  5,447,657  5,106,783
Accumulated other comprehensive income  64,387  86,271

Equity attributable to shareholder of parent entity  6,059,769  5,740,779 
Non-controlling interest  767  535

   6,060,536  5,741,314

Total liabilities and equity $ 35,317,933 $ 33,014,272

Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities (Note 23). 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the FCC Board of Directors on May 30, 2018, and were signed on its behalf by:

Michael Hoffort, P.Ag., ICD.D Govert Verstralen 
President and Chief Executive Officer Chair, Audit Committee
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Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended March 31 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  2018  2017

Interest income $ 1,330,351 $ 1,179,128
Interest expense  258,345  182,408

Net interest income (Note 18)  1,072,006  996,720
Provision for credit losses (Note 8)  (30,881)  (19,289)

Net interest income after provision for credit losses  1,041,125  977,431
Net insurance income  30,859  19,030
Net (loss) income from investment in associates  (3,557)  1,491
Other expense  (127)  (930)

Net interest income and non-interest income  1,068,300  997,022

Administration expenses (Note 19)    
Salaries and benefits  238,164  230,203
Other  146,421  140,944

Total administration expenses  384,585  371,147

Net income before fair value adjustment  683,715  625,875
Fair value adjustment (Note 20)  (13,797)  (12,080)

Net income $ 669,918 $ 613,795

Net income attributable to:
Shareholder of parent entity $ 669,879 $ 613,767
Non-controlling interest   39  28

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  2018  2017

Net income $ 669,918 $ 613,795
Other comprehensive income    
Items that are or may be reclassified to net income    
Transfer of net realized gains on derivatives previously designated as cash flow  
 hedges to net income (Note 5)  (21,721)  (21,721)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale financial assets  (163)  871

   (21,884)  (20,850)

Item that will never be reclassified to net income     
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit assets and liabilities (Note 11)  (20,705)  62,492

Total other comprehensive (loss) income   (42,589)  41,642

Total comprehensive income $ 627,329 $ 655,437

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholder of parent entity $ 627,290 $ 655,409
Non-controlling interest   39  28

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
      Contributions
  Balance  Other  from non- Balance
(thousands of  March 31,  comprehensive Dividend controlling March 31,
Canadian dollars) 2017 Net income income paid interest 2018

Contributed surplus $ 547,725 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 547,725
Retained earnings  5,106,783  669,879  (20,705)  (308,300)  –  5,447,657
Net gains (transfer of net 
 gains) on derivatives 
 previously designated 
 as cash flow hedges  86,458  –  (21,721)  –  –  64,737 
Net unrealized losses 
 on available-for-
 sale financial assets  (187)  –  (163)  –  –  (350)

Total accumulated 
 other comprehensive 
 income (loss)  86,271  –  (21,884)  –  –  64,387

Total equity 
 attributable  
 to parent  5,740,779  669,879  (42,589)  (308,300)  –  6,059,769 
Non-controlling interest  535  39  –  –  193  767

Total $ 5,741,314 $ 669,918 $ (42,589) $ (308,300) $ 193 $ 6,060,536

      Contributions 
  Balance  Other  from non- Balance
(thousands of  March 31,  comprehensive Dividend controlling March 31,
Canadian dollars) 2016 Net income income paid interest 2017

Contributed surplus $ 547,725 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 547,725
Retained earnings  4,698,824  613,767  62,492  (268,300)  –  5,106,783
Net gains (transfer of net 
 gains) on derivatives 
 previously designated 
 as cash flow hedges  108,179  –  (21,721)  –  –  86,458
Net unrealized (losses) 
 gains on available-for-
 sale financial assets  (1,058)  –  871  –  –  (187)

Total accumulated 
 other comprehensive 
 income (loss)   107,121  –  (20,850)  –  –  86,271

Total equity
 attributable 
 to parent   5,353,670  613,767  41,642  (268,300)  –  5,740,779
Non-controlling interest  401  28  –  –  106  535

Total $ 5,354,071 $ 613,795 $ 41,642 $ (268,300) $ 106 $ 5,741,314

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  2018  2017

Operating activities
Net income  $ 669,918 $ 613,795
 Adjustments to determine net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
 Net interest income  (1,072,006)  (996,720)
 Unwind adjustment on impaired loans  1,005  (3,403)
 Provision for credit losses  30,881  19,289
 Fair value adjustment  13,797  12,080
 Net loss (income) from investment in associates  3,557  (1,491)
 Amortization and depreciation  17,383  19,177
 Other  17,650  (8,245)
Net cash outflow from loans receivable  (2,600,616)  (2,549,543)
Net cash outflow from finance leases receivable  (2,539)  (1,295)
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities  (23,011)  18,936
Interest received  1,238,269  1,137,378
Interest paid  (221,290)  (160,519)

Cash used in operating activities  (1,927,002)  (1,900,561)

Investing activities
Net cash inflow (outflow) from short-term investments   38,002  (97,564)
Acquisition of venture capital investments  (26,020)  (23,163)
Proceeds on disposal and repayment of venture capital investments  5,850  10,000
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investment in associates  (10,414)  6,076
Purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements  (8,567)  (9,440)
Purchase of computer software   (9,582)  (11,399)
Purchase of equipment under operating leases  (59,510)  (50,043)
Proceeds on disposal of equipment under operating leases  18,276  16,402

Cash used in investing activities  (51,965)  (159,131)

Financing activities
Long-term debt issued  9,226,500  11,039,000
Long-term debt repaid   (6,536,263)  (9,166,601)
Short-term debt issued  10,906,762  16,160,430
Short-term debt repaid   (11,270,209)  (15,745,739)
Dividend paid  (308,300)  (268,300)

Cash provided by financing activities  2,018,490  2,018,790

Change in cash and cash equivalents  39,523  (40,902) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  790,595  831,387
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balances    
 of cash held and due in foreign currencies  (1,549)  110

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 828,569 $ 790,595

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:    
Cash $ 665,393 $ 350,290
Cash equivalents  163,176  440,305

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. The corporation

Authority and objectives

Farm Credit Canada (FCC) was established in 1959 by the Farm Credit Act as the successor to the Canadian  
Farm Loan Board and is an agent Crown corporation named in Part I of Schedule III to the Financial Administration 
Act. FCC is located in Canada and its registered office is at 1800 Hamilton Street, Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada.  
FCC is wholly owned by the Government of Canada and is not subject to the requirements of the Income Tax Act. 

The purpose of FCC is to enhance rural Canada by providing specialized and personalized business and financial 
services and products to farming operations, including family farms, and to those businesses in rural Canada, 
including small- and medium-sized businesses, that are businesses related to farming. The primary focus of  
the activities of FCC shall be on farming operations, including family farms. 

On April 2, 1993, the Farm Credit Corporation Act was proclaimed into law and replaced the Farm Credit Act  
and the Farm Syndicates Credit Act, both of which were repealed. The revised Act allows FCC to operate under  
an expanded mandate that includes broader lending and administrative powers.

On June 14, 2001, the Farm Credit Canada Act received royal assent, which updated the Farm Credit Corporation 
Act. This Act allows FCC to offer producers and agribusiness operators a broader range of services.

In September 2008, FCC, together with a number of other Crown corporations, was issued a directive  
(P.C. 2008-1598) pursuant to Section 89 of the Financial Administration Act, requiring due consideration by  
FCC to the personal integrity of those it lends to or provides benefits to. During fiscal 2018, FCC continued to 
comply with the requirements of the directive.

In July 2015, FCC was issued a directive (P.C. 2015-1104) pursuant to Section 89 of the Financial Administration 
Act to align its travel, hospitality, conference and event expenditure policies, guidelines and practices with 
Treasury Board policies, directives and related instruments on travel, hospitality, conference and event 
expenditures in a manner that is consistent with its legal obligations. FCC’s policies, guidelines and practices  
have been aligned with Treasury Board policies, directives and related instruments since March 31, 2016.

In March 2017, FCC was issued a directive (P.C. 2017-242) pursuant to Section 89 of the Financial Administration 
Act, which repealed directive P.C. 2014-1377 of December 2014 and directs FCC to ensure its pension plans 
reflect the following:

(1)  for its defined contribution pension plan, member contribution rates are equal to those of the employer by 
December 31, 2017 

(2)  the normal age of retirement is 65 years for employees hired on or after March 10, 2017, and the age at which 
retirement benefits are available, other than those received at the normal age of retirement, corresponds with 
the age at which they are available under the Public Service Pension Plan

This directive also required FCC to outline its implementation strategy with respect to the aforementioned 
requirements in its next corporate plan and subsequent corporate plans until the commitments are fully 
implemented. FCC has fully implemented the commitments as at March 31, 2018.
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2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

Consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
summarized below and in the following pages. The significant accounting policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is FCC’s functional currency. 
Unless otherwise stated, all dollar amounts presented within the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
are in thousands of Canadian dollars.

Changes in accounting standards

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued a number of interpretations, amendments  
and improvements that were mandatory for the accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.  
One amendment is relevant to FCC and was effective April 1, 2017. IAS 7 – Statement of cash flows was  
amended to require specific disclosures for changes in borrowings. Disclosure has been added to Note 16  
to disclose changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. 

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FCC, Avrio Subordinated Debt Fund I and Avrio 
Subordinated Debt Fund II (collectively the Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds). The Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds 
are venture capital limited partnerships for which FCC is a limited partner holding majority partnership interests. 
FCC consolidates the Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds as it has control over these funds. FCC controls these funds 
as it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with these funds and FCC has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the funds. An adjustment has been made for significant intervening 
transactions and changes in fair value of investments occurring between the December 31 year-end of the Avrio 
Subordinated Debt Funds and FCC’s year-end. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated. The non-controlling interest, which represents the equity in the Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds that  
is not attributable to FCC, has been presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement  
of Income, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Equity.

Classification and designation of financial instruments 

Financial assets are classified or designated as loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL) or available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. Financial liabilities are classified or designated as financial 
liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Financial instruments at FVTPL are derivative financial assets and liabilities that are classified  
as held for trading (HFT) and non-derivative financial assets and liabilities that meet certain conditions to be 
designated at FVTPL at initial recognition. AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that do not 
qualify for inclusion in any of the other financial asset categories. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently accounted for 
based on their classification.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are composed of bank account balances and short-term, highly liquid investments that 
have a maturity date of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition, are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Cash equivalents are designated as AFS financial 
assets. Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents is included in interest income.
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Short-term investments

Short-term investments have maturity dates between 91 and 365 days from the date of acquisition, are acquired 
primarily for liquidity purposes and are designated as AFS financial assets. Short-term investments are accounted 
for at fair value using trade date accounting and a valuation technique as described under the Estimation 
Uncertainty heading. Unrealized fair value gains and losses are included in other comprehensive income (OCI). 
Interest earned on short-term investments is included in interest income. 

Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

Derivatives 

Derivative financial instruments create rights and obligations that are intended to mitigate one or more of the 
financial risks inherent in an underlying primary financial instrument. FCC uses derivative financial instruments to 
manage exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange fluctuations, within limits approved by the FCC Board of 
Directors (the Board). These limits are based on guidelines established by the Department of Finance. FCC does 
not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Derivatives are classified as HFT and are recorded at FVTPL using a valuation technique as described under the 
Estimation Uncertainty heading, with gains and losses reported in the fair value adjustment. Derivatives classified 
as HFT are reported as assets where they have a positive fair value and as liabilities where they have a negative fair 
value. Interest earned and incurred on derivatives classified as HFT is included in interest income. 

Cash flow hedges 

Cash flow hedge accounting was discontinued prospectively on January 1, 2015, for all the interest rate swaps 
previously designated as hedging items as FCC revoked the designated hedging relationships. The cumulative 
gains previously recognized in OCI are being transferred to net interest income over the remaining term of the 
original hedge. All fair value gains and losses on the interest rate swaps subsequent to discontinuation  
are recognized immediately in the fair value adjustment. 

Loans receivable

Loans receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Loans receivable are stated net of an allowance for credit 
losses and deferred loan fees and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Loan interest income is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized in net income using the effective interest 
method unless the loan is classified as impaired. Once a loan is impaired, the unwinding of the discount on the 
security value is recognized as interest income based on the original effective interest rate on the loan.

Loan origination fees, including commitment fees and renegotiation fees, are considered an integral part of  
the return earned on a loan and are recognized in interest income over the expected term of the loan using the 
effective interest method. In addition, certain incremental direct costs for originating the loans are deferred and 
netted against the related fees. 

An impaired loan is any loan where, in management’s opinion, the credit quality has deteriorated to the extent 
that FCC no longer has reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. In 
addition, any loan where an amount greater than $500 is past due for 90 or more consecutive days is classified as 
impaired unless the loan is sufficiently secured. When a loan is classified as impaired, the carrying value is reduced 
to its estimated realizable value through an adjustment to the individual allowance for credit losses. Changes in 
the estimated realizable amount that arise subsequent to the initial impairment are also adjusted through the 
individual allowance for credit losses. 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Loan interest income is not accrued when a loan is classified as impaired. All payments received on an impaired 
loan are credited against the recorded investment in the loan. The loan reverts to performing status when, in 
management’s opinion, the ultimate collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured. When the impaired 
loan is restored to performing status, the remaining individual allowance for credit losses is reversed. 

Loans and their related allowance for credit losses are written off when all collection efforts have been exhausted 
and there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

Finance leases receivable

When FCC is the lessor in a lease arrangement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental  
to ownership to the lessee, then the arrangement is classified as a finance lease. Finance leases receivable are 
classified as loans and receivables. Finance leases receivable are stated net of an allowance for credit losses  
and are recorded at the aggregate future minimum lease payments plus estimated residual values less unearned 
finance income. Finance lease income is recognized in a manner that produces a constant rate of return  
on the lease.

Allowance for credit losses

FCC recognizes an allowance for credit losses that represents management’s best estimate of the incurred losses  
in the loan and lease portfolios at the balance sheet date. The allowance is increased or decreased by the provision 
for credit losses, the government subsidy for the Hog Industry Loan Loss Reserve Program (HILLRP), as described 
under the Government Assistance heading, the unwind adjustment, as described under the Individual Allowance 
heading, writeoffs and recoveries. 

At each balance sheet date, FCC assesses whether there is objective evidence that a loan or lease is impaired.  
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or lease has been incurred, the carrying value of 
the loan or lease is reduced through the allowance for credit losses and the amount of the loss is recognized in 
the provision for credit losses. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss increases or decreases, 
and the increase or decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is adjusted through the allowance for credit losses  
and provision for credit losses. 

In determining the allowance for credit losses, management segregates credit losses into two components: 
individual and collective.

Individual allowance – FCC first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists based on an individual 
review of each loan or lease in the portfolio. The review is undertaken to determine if a loss event indicating 
impairment exists for an individual loan or lease. The review assesses whether credit quality has deteriorated to 
the extent that FCC no longer has reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal and 
interest. In addition, FCC has defined loans or leases where an amount greater than $500 is past due for 90 or 
more consecutive days as being a loss event. If a loss event has occurred, an impairment loss is recorded unless 
the loan or lease is sufficiently secured.

The impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the loan or lease’s carrying value and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at either the loan or lease’s original effective interest rate for 
fixed-rate loans or leases or the effective interest rate at the time of the impairment for variable-rate loans or 
leases. The estimation of future cash flows considers the fair value of any underlying security as well as the 
estimated time and costs to realize the security. In subsequent periods, any change in present value of estimated 
future cash flows attributable to the passage of time adjusts the allowance for credit losses through the unwind 
adjustment. The unwind adjustment is recorded in interest income.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Collective allowance – If FCC determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed loan or lease, it is assessed on a collective basis. In making the collective assessment of impairment, 
management groups the loans and leases into portfolios with similar credit risk characteristics. Future cash flows 
for these portfolios are estimated on the basis of underlying security values and historical loss experience, 
considering customer, loan and security characteristics. The collective assessment of impairment for loans  
is broken down into three components: triggered loan pool, general loan pool and overlay.

• Triggered loan pool – Loans are included in this pool if any one of the following loss events has occurred:

 1.  All loans for customers with any one loan that has an amount greater than $500 past due for 90 or more 
consecutive days. 

 2.  All loans for customers with any one loan that has had an amortization extension to the payment schedule 
in the last 12 months. 

 3.  Any individual loan that has had a 15-point risk scoring and pricing system (RSPS) score drop when 
compared to its RSPS score 12 months ago. 

•  General loan pool – This assessment considers credit losses that have been incurred on loans that do not meet 
the criteria to be in either the individual or triggered loan pools. It is based on the historical movement of loans 
from performing status to either the triggered or individually impaired loan pools.

•  Overlay – FCC uses the overlay to adjust its historical loss experience reflected in the triggered loan pool and 
general loan pool components of the collective assessment for current market conditions.

For select portions of FCC’s portfolio, the above process is tailored to capture the unique characteristics of these 
loans to identify and measure impairment more accurately. For these loans, the individual loss event is considered 
to be 180 days past due. For the collective allowance, FCC considers the historical movement of performing loans 
to impaired status, along with the calculation of expected future cash flows estimated using historical probabilities  
of default and loss given default.

Investment in associates

FCC holds investments in Avrio Fund I, Avrio Fund II and Avrio Fund III (collectively the Avrio Equity Funds),  
which are venture capital limited partnerships operating in Calgary, Alberta, that are associates of FCC. An 
associate is an entity over which FCC has significant influence. FCC has the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not have control over those policies. The Avrio Equity 
Funds are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, investments are 
initially recorded at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize FCC’s share of investee 
net income or loss. The investment is recorded as investment in associates in FCC’s Consolidated Balance Sheet 
and its share of the net income or loss is recorded in net income from investment in associates in its Consolidated 
Statement of Income. An adjustment has been made for significant intervening transactions and changes in fair 
value of investments occurring between the December 31 year-end of the Avrio Equity Funds and FCC’s year-end.

Venture capital investments

Venture capital investments include investments held by the Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds. FCC has designated 
its venture capital investments at FVTPL, as they are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis in accordance with a documented investment strategy. 

Venture capital investments are accounted for at fair value, using a valuation technique as described under the 
Estimation Uncertainty heading, with gains and losses reported in the fair value adjustment. Interest on debt and 
fee income are recognized when receivable and included in interest income.
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Post-employment benefits

FCC has a registered defined benefit pension plan, three supplemental defined benefit pension plans, a registered 
defined contribution pension plan, a supplemental defined contribution plan and other defined benefit plans that 
provide retirement and post-employment benefits to most of its employees. The defined benefit pension plan and 
the defined contribution pension plan are registered under the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985, registration 
no. 57164. They are registered pension trusts as defined in the Income Tax Act and are not subject to income 
taxes. The defined benefit pension plan is based on employees’ number of years of service and the average salary 
of their five highest-paid consecutive years of service. It is protected against inflation. The supplemental defined 
benefit and supplemental defined contribution pension plans are available for employees whose benefits under 
the registered plans are limited by the Income Tax Act maximum limits.

Retirement benefit plans are contributory health care plans with employee contributions adjusted annually  
and a non-contributory life insurance plan. Post-employment plans provide short-term disability income benefits, 
severance entitlements after employment and health care benefits to employees on long-term disability.

The defined benefit obligations for pension and other defined benefit plans are actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method, which incorporates management’s best estimate of future salary 
levels, other cost escalation, retirement ages of employees and other actuarial factors. Plan assets are measured  
at fair value.

FCC measures its defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at  
March 31 of each year. 

The net asset or liability for defined benefit obligations represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation reduced by the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit asset is limited to the value determined  
by the asset ceiling. The value of the asset is restricted to the present value of economic benefits available in the 
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present 
value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that apply to the plan.

Defined benefit costs are split into three categories:

•  service costs, past service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and settlements, plan administration costs  
and the tax effect on refundable tax assets

• net interest expense or income on the net defined benefit liability 
• remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability

Contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are recognized as an expense when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Unpaid contributions are recognized as a liability.

Past service costs arising from plan amendments are recognized immediately in salaries and benefits in the period 
of the plan amendment. 

Net interest, current service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and settlements, plan administration costs  
and the tax effect on refundable tax assets are recognized immediately in salaries and benefits in net income.  
Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate used to discount the post-employment benefit obligations 
to the net asset or liability for defined benefit obligations.

Remeasurements include actuarial gains and losses, experience adjustments on plan liabilities, the change  
in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability,  
if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest on the net defined benefit liability). Actuarial  
gains or losses arise from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine the defined benefit obligations. 
Remeasurements are recognized immediately in OCI in the period in which they occur and flow into retained 
earnings in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
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Equipment and leasehold improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the equipment or leasehold improvement. 
Subsequent expenditures, including replaced parts, are included in the equipment or leasehold improvement’s 
carrying value or are recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to FCC and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
value of the replaced part is derecognized. All repair and maintenance costs are expensed during the period in 
which they are incurred.

Depreciation begins when the equipment or leasehold improvement is available for use by FCC. Depreciation is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost less estimated residual value of the asset over the 
following terms:

        Terms      

Office equipment and furniture      5 years 
Computer equipment       3 or 5 years 
Leasehold improvements      Shorter of lease term or asset’s useful economic life

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted, if appropriate. Equipment and leasehold 
improvements are reviewed annually for indicators of impairment and, if indicators exist, FCC estimates the 
recoverable amount of the asset. The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less the costs  
to sell and the value in use. If the carrying value is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss would be recognized to reduce the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying value and are included in 
facilities, software and equipment expense.

Computer software

Computer software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Expenditures on internally developed 
software are recognized as assets when FCC is able to demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the 
development, to use the software in a manner that will generate future economic benefits and to reliably measure 
the costs to complete the development. The capitalized costs of internally developed software include all costs 
directly attributable to developing the software.

Amortization begins when the software is available for use by FCC. Amortization is recorded over the estimated 
useful life of three or five years using the straight-line method.

Software is reviewed annually for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits.  
If such indications exist, the carrying value is analyzed to assess whether it is fully recoverable. An impairment loss 
would be recorded to reduce the carrying value to the recoverable amount if the carrying value is greater than the 
estimated recoverable amount.

Equipment under operating leases

When FCC is the lessor in a lease arrangement that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership to the lessee, then the arrangement is classified as an operating lease. Equipment under 
operating leases is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Equipment is depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over its useful life to FCC, which is equivalent to the term of the lease. Depreciation is included in  
interest expense. 
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Lease income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and included 
in interest income. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying value of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Equipment under operating leases is reviewed annually for indications of impairment or changes in estimated 
future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the carrying value is analyzed to assess whether it is fully 
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recorded to reduce the carrying value to the recoverable amount if  
the carrying value is greater than the estimated recoverable amount.

Insurance

FCC sells group creditor life and accident insurance to its customers through a program administered by a major 
insurance provider. The insurance premiums are actuarially determined and are accrued when receivable and 
recorded in net insurance income.

Insurance claims expense, included in net insurance income, consists of paid claims that are recorded as incurred 
throughout the year, an accrual for insurance claims payable at year-end for claims that have been incurred as at 
the balance sheet date and adjustments to the reserve for insurance claims. The reserve for insurance claims 
represents the liability that, together with estimated future premiums and net investment income on insurance 
reserve assets, will provide for outstanding claims, estimated future benefits, taxes and expenses. The reserve for 
insurance claims is recorded at fair value and included in other liabilities. The reserve is actuarially determined 
using the Canadian Asset Liability Method and prepared on a going concern basis, taking into account the 
appropriate degree of risk inherent in the obligation, as described in Note 26. Changes in estimates are  
recorded when made and are included in net insurance income.

FCC maintains a restricted insurance reserve asset, which is included in other assets, with the insurance provider 
to fund future claim payments. Interest is paid on the insurance reserve asset by the insurance provider annually 
and is recorded in other income.

Expenses related to administering the insurance program are recorded in other expenses. The accrual for insurance 
claims payable is classified as other financial liabilities, measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method and included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Government of Canada borrowings are undertaken with the approval of the Minister of Finance. Government  
of Canada borrowings are direct obligations of FCC and therefore constitute borrowings undertaken on behalf  
of Her Majesty in Right of Canada and carry the full faith and credit of the Government of Canada.

Capital market debt includes short-term U.S. dollar fixed-rate promissory notes and short- and long-term retail 
and institutional fixed-rate notes.

Borrowings are accounted for using trade date accounting, and are classified as other financial liabilities and 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Interest incurred on all borrowings is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized in interest expense using the 
effective interest method. 
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Transition loan liabilities

FCC records a transition loan liability that represents amounts owing to third parties upon the signing of a 
contract that requires FCC to pay amounts in accordance with a disbursement schedule relating to undisbursed 
transition loans, which are included in loans receivable. As payments are made in accordance with the transition 
loan disbursement schedule, the applicable amount of the transition loan liability is reduced. Transition loan 
liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Government assistance 

FCC is one of the financial institutions participating in the HILLRP. Under the HILLRP, the Government of Canada 
has established a loan loss reserve fund to share the net credit losses on eligible loans provided to hog operations 
with certain financial institutions. FCC is responsible for all credit losses beyond those covered by the loan loss 
reserve fund and must meet certain eligibility requirements to access the reserve fund. The amount of funds 
available from the loan loss reserve fund to FCC for any non-performing eligible loans are 90%, 80% and 70%  
of net credit losses in years one to three, four to six and seven to 15, respectively. Amounts held by FCC to which 
it is not entitled are paid back to the Government of Canada at the end of the program. FCC’s deadline for 
disbursing the loans eligible under this program has passed and no further loan loss reserve fund instalments  
are due from the Government of Canada.

Management estimates the amount of the loan loss reserve fund to which FCC is entitled under the HILLRP. This 
estimate is accounted for as a reduction to FCC’s provision for credit losses. The remaining amount of the loan  
loss reserve fund, to which FCC is not entitled, is recorded as borrowings. Interest on this borrowing is recorded  
in interest expense.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issuance or disposal of a 
financial asset or liability. Transaction costs relating to loans and receivables and borrowings classified as other 
liabilities are deferred and amortized over the instrument’s expected useful life using the effective interest 
method. Transaction costs related to all other financial instruments are expensed as incurred. 

Operating lease payments

Payments on operating lease agreements are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated 
costs are expensed as incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into Canadian dollars at rates 
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at the monthly average exchange rates 
prevailing throughout the year. Exchange gains and losses on loans and receivables are included in interest 
income, and exchange gains and losses on borrowings are included in interest expense.

Segmented information

FCC is organized and managed as a single business segment, which is agriculture lending. All of FCC’s revenues 
are within Canada.
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Significant management judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are critical management judgments used in applying FCC’s accounting policies.

 • Significant influence over Avrio Fund III

   FCC has determined that it exerts power over operating, investing and financing decisions, and thus has 
significant influence over Avrio Fund III at March 31, 2018, while holding less than 20% voting control 
(Note 24).

 • Finance leases receivable

   In applying the classification of leases in IAS 17 – Leases, management considers leases of agricultural 
equipment to be either finance or operating lease arrangements. In some cases, the lease transaction is  
not always conclusive and management uses judgment in determining whether the lease is a finance lease 
arrangement that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

  • Computer software

   A significant portion of FCC’s computer software expenditures relates to software that is developed as  
part of internal infrastructures and, to a lesser extent, purchased directly from suppliers. Management has 
a process to monitor the progress of internal research and development projects. Significant judgment is 
required in distinguishing between the research and development phases. Research costs are expensed as 
incurred, whereas development costs are recognized as an asset when all criteria are met. Management 
monitors whether the recognition requirements for development costs continue to be met. This is 
necessary as the economic success of any product development is uncertain and may be subject to  
future technical problems after the time of recognition.

Estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires that management 
makes judgments, estimates and assumptions concerning the future that affect the reported amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these judgments, estimates 
and assumptions. Information about the significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that are critical to the 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expense is discussed below.

  • Allowance for credit losses

   The loan and lease portfolio is reviewed by management to assess impairment. Judgments are made when 
determining whether a loss event has occurred, and estimates and assumptions are made in measuring the 
resulting impairment loss. Management uses best estimates based on historical loss experience for loans 
and leases with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the 
portfolio when estimating its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating 
both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

  • Post-employment benefit assets and liabilities

   The estimate of the post-employment benefit assets and liabilities or pension and non-pension post-
retirement benefits is actuarially determined and incorporates management’s best estimate of future salary 
levels, other cost escalation, employees’ retirement ages and other actuarial assumptions. The discount rate 
is one of the more significant assumptions used. It is the interest rate that determines the present value  
of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. Management 
determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. In doing this, management considers the 
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of  
the related pension liability. Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying values of post-
employment benefit assets and liabilities. 
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 • Reserve for insurance claims

   The reserve for insurance claims is based on certain estimates and assumptions, including expected future 
mortality experience and interest rates. Higher mortality experience and increased interest rates would be 
financially adverse to FCC. FCC’s mortality experience is combined with industry experience, since FCC’s 
own experience is insufficient to be statistically credible.

 • Useful lives of depreciable assets

   During the software development process and when new equipment, leasehold improvements and 
computer software are being purchased, management’s judgment and estimates are required to  
determine the expected period of benefit over which capitalized costs should be depreciated or amortized. 
Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date. Actual results may vary 
because of technical obsolescence, particularly for software and information technology equipment, due to 
rapidly changing technology and the uncertainty of the software development process.

 • Fair value of financial instruments

   The fair value of financial instruments is determined based on published quoted market prices or valuation 
techniques when quoted market prices are not available. Fair values are point-in-time estimates that may 
change significantly in subsequent reporting periods due to changes in market conditions. Fair value 
techniques use models and assumptions about future events, based on either observable or non-
observable market inputs. As such, fair values are estimates involving uncertainties and may be significantly 
different when compared to another financial institution’s value for a similar contract. The methods used to 
value FCC’s financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows:

    •  The estimated fair value of short-term investments is calculated by discounting contractual cash flows 
at interest rates prevailing at the reporting date for equivalent securities.

    •  The estimated fair value of derivative financial assets and liabilities is determined using market 
standard valuation techniques. Where call or extension options exist, the value of these options is 
determined using current market measures for interest rates and currency exchange rates and by 
taking volatility levels and estimations for other market-based pricing factors into consideration. 
Market-observed credit spreads, where available, are a key factor in establishing valuation adjustments 
against FCC’s counterparty credit exposures. Where the counterparty does not have an observable 
credit spread, a proxy that reflects the counterparty’s credit profile is used.

    •  The estimated fair value of venture capital debt investments is calculated by discounting contractual 
cash flows at interest rates prevailing at the reporting date with equivalent risk and terms to maturity.
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Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

FCC has reviewed the new standards and amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective and 
determined that the following may have an impact on FCC in the future. Management is in the process of 
assessing the impact of these standards and amendments on FCC’s financial statements and accounting policies. 
A number of other new standards, amendments and improvements that have been issued by the IASB but are not 
yet effective are not listed below as FCC determined that they will not have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
Standard

 
Details

Date of initial 
application 

IFRS 9 – Financial 
instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the complete version of IFRS 9, first issued in  
November 2009, which brings together the classification and measurement, 
impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. 

IFRS 9 introduces a principles-based approach to the classification of financial assets 
based on an entity’s business model and the nature of the cash flows of the asset.  
This standard will change the classification of FCC’s cash equivalents and short-term 
investments from AFS to amortized cost and venture capital investments from FVTPL  
to amortized cost.

IFRS 9 also introduces an expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not  
at FVTPL and certain off-balance sheet loan commitments and guarantees. The new 
expected loss impairment model will result in an allowance for credit losses being 
recorded on financial assets regardless of whether there has been an actual loss event. 
This differs from the current approach where the allowance recorded is designed to 
capture only losses that have been incurred whether or not they have been specifically 
identified. The most significant impact will be on FCC’s loans receivable.

The IFRS 9 expected loss impairment model has three stages:

1.  On initial recognition, 12-month expected credit losses are recognized in profit or 
loss and a loss allowance is established. 

2.  If credit risk increases significantly and the resulting credit risk is not considered  
to be low, full lifetime expected credit losses are recognized. In assessing whether 
credit risk has increased significantly, entities are required to compare the risk of  
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date, with the  
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In subsequent reporting periods, if the credit risk of the financial 
instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, then entities shall revert to recognizing 12 months of 
expected credit losses. 

3.  When a financial asset is considered credit-impaired, full lifetime expected credit 
losses are recognized and interest revenue is calculated based on the carrying 
amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather than its gross carrying 
amount.

As permitted, FCC will not re-state the prior period comparative consolidated financial 
statements when the requirements of the new standard are adopted. 

FCC is validating the results of the new allowance for credit losses calculation  
and expects to recognize a significant decrease to the allowance for credit losses  
and increase to the opening retained earnings to reflect the implementation of the 
new standard.

April 1, 2018
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IFRS 16 – Leases In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, which requires all leases to be reported on a 
lessee’s balance sheet as assets and liabilities. There are also changes in accounting over 
the life of the lease. In particular, lessees will now recognize a front-loaded pattern of 
expense for most leases, even when they pay constant annual rentals. It is anticipated 
this standard will result in an increase in both lease assets and lease liabilities on the 
balance sheet as well as an accelerated pattern for expense recognition.

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as lessors continue to classify leases 
as finance and operating leases. 

FCC is assessing the impact of this standard and the extent of the impact of the 
adoption is unknown at this time.

April 1, 2019

IFRS 17 – Insurance 
contracts

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17, which provides a single principle-based standard 
to account for all types of insurance contracts. IFRS 17 provides updated information 
about the obligations, risks and performance of insurance contracts and increases 
transparency in financial information reported by insurance companies, which will give 
investors and analysts more confidence in understanding the insurance industry. It also 
introduces consistent accounting for all insurance contracts based on a current 
measurement model.

FCC is assessing the impact of this standard and the extent of the impact of the 
adoption is unknown at this time.

April 1, 2021

3. Short-term investments
As at March 31, 2018, short-term investments were $398.2 million (2017 – $435.5 million) with a yield of 1.38% 
(2017 – 0.67%). They consisted of promissory notes and treasury bills issued by institutions with credit ratings of 
A+ or higher (2017 – A+ or higher) as rated by Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P). As at March 31, 2018, 
the largest total investment in any one institution was $131.1 million (2017 – $177.0 million).

All short-term investments have an initial term to maturity of 91 – 365 days and will mature within 12 months  
of the balance sheet date.

4. Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Amounts receivable from pending borrowing $ – $ 370,000
Other  47,801  29,110

 $ 47,801 $ 399,110

Amounts receivable from pending borrowing consist of borrowings that remained unsettled at the end of the 
reporting year. The fair value of amounts receivable from pending borrowing is the value at which the borrowing 
was undertaken.
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5. Derivative financial instruments
As at March 31, 2018, derivative financial assets were $21.5 million (2017 – $35.8 million) and derivative financial 
liabilities were $nil (2017 – $2.6 thousand). 

The derivative contracts entered into by FCC are over-the-counter instruments. Interest rate swaps are transactions 
in which two parties exchange interest flows on a specified notional amount on predetermined dates for a 
specified period of time using agreed-upon fixed or floating rates of interest. Notional amounts upon which 
interest payments and receipts are based are not exchanged. FCC is exposed to variability in future interest cash 
flows on non-trading assets that bear interest at variable rates. Foreign exchange swaps are transactions in which 
two parties exchange notional amounts in different currencies at inception and maturity on the exchanged 
amounts on predetermined dates for a specific period of time using agreed-upon fixed rates of interest.

As at March 31, 2018, the estimated amount of existing net gains reported in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (AOCI) that is expected to be transferred to net income within the next 12 months is $21.7 million  
(2017 – $21.7 million).

Notional principal amounts and term to maturity
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  

  Within 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Interest rate swaps 
Receive Pay 
Fixed Floating $ – $ 237,994 $ – $ 237,994 
Floating Fixed  –  12,894  –  12,894

   –  250,888  –  250,888 
Foreign exchange swaps 
Receive Pay 
EUR CAD  11,143  –  –  11,143

  $ 11,143 $ 250,888 $ – $ 262,031

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2017  

  Within 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Interest rate swaps 
Receive Pay 
Fixed Floating $ – $ 237,994 $ – $ 237,994 
Floating Fixed  –  –  13,299  13,299

   –  237,994  13,299  251,293 
Foreign exchange swaps 
Receive Pay 
EUR CAD  –  –  –  –

  $ – $ 237,994 $ 13,299 $ 251,293
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Counterparty credit risk 

Derivatives that have a positive fair value are subject to counterparty risk because the positive fair value indicates 
that over time, FCC can expect to receive cash flows from the counterparties based on the terms of the contract 
and current market conditions. The master netting agreements in place have no impact on the fair values at 
March 31, 2017, and March 31, 2018.

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands)   2018 

   Positive Negative Net 
   fair value fair value fair value

Interest rate swaps   $ 21,414 $ – $ 21,414 
Foreign exchange swaps    98  –  98

Fair value    $ 21,512 $ – $ 21,512

As at March 31 ($ thousands)   2017 

   Positive Negative Net 
   fair value fair value fair value

Interest rate swaps   $ 35,831 $ 3 $ 35,828 
Foreign exchange swaps    –  –  –

Fair value    $ 35,831 $ 3 $ 35,828

FCC does not anticipate any significant non-performance by counterparties because all counterparties are rated 
A1, A+ and AA or higher, as rated by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s), S&P, and the Dominion Bond Rating 
Service (DBRS), respectively. The largest cumulative notional amount contracted with any institution as at  
March 31, 2018, was $125.0 million (2017 – $125.0 million), and the largest net fair value of contracts with  
any institution as at March 31, 2018, was $9.2 million (2017 – $16.8 million). FCC mitigates the credit exposure  
on multiple derivative transactions by entering into master netting agreements with counterparties as outlined  
in Note 26. These agreements create the legal right to offset exposure in the event of default.

6. Loans receivable – net
The following tables summarize the contractual maturity of the gross loans receivable. 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)     2018   

   Within  1 – 5  Over 
   1 year  years  5 years  Total

Floating  $ 3,296,610 $ 13,611,828 $ 580,939 $ 17,489,377 
Fixed   3,432,898  10,753,841  2,206,397  16,393,136

Loans receivable – gross $ 6,729,508 $ 24,365,669 $ 2,787,336 $ 33,882,513 
Deferred loan fees         (23,960)

Loans receivable – total        33,858,553 
Allowance for credit losses (Note 8)        (222,534)

Loans receivable – net        $ 33,636,019
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As at March 31 ($ thousands)     2017   

   Within  1 – 5  Over 
   1 year  years  5 years  Total

Floating  $ 3,026,214 $ 13,338,504 $ 651,522 $ 17,016,240 
Fixed   3,349,569  8,914,076  1,964,538  14,228,183

Loans receivable – gross $ 6,375,783 $ 22,252,580 $ 2,616,060 $ 31,244,423 
Deferred loan fees         (23,758)

Loans receivable – total        31,220,665 
Allowance for credit losses (Note 8)        (213,615)

Loans receivable – net        $ 31,007,050

Management estimates that annually, over the next three years, approximately 5.8% (2017 – approximately 5.8%) 
of the current principal balance will be prepaid before the contractual due date.

As at March 31, 2018, $534.9 million (2017 – $497.7 million) of loans receivable were denominated in U.S. dollars 
(USD) and $11.2 million (2017-$nil) were denominated in Euros (EUR).

Concentrations of credit risk

The concentrations of gross loans and impaired loans by enterprise and geographic area are as follows:

Enterprise distribution
  Gross   Impaired 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017  2018  2017

Oilseed and grain  $ 10,351,636 $ 9,412,531 $ 8,831 $ 11,513 
Dairy   6,203,782  5,773,209  1,971  4,249 
Agribusiness    3,310,446  2,950,494  6,856  24,227 
Poultry   2,508,809  2,340,426  69  – 
Beef    2,106,014  1,912,925  5,197  7,743 
Part-time farming    2,047,149  1,972,545  20,607  20,573 
Other    1,821,737  1,666,888  26,913  30,880 
Greenhouse   1,184,326  1,097,946  1,364  10,776 
Alliances   1,176,445  1,015,630  11,957  12,225 
Agri-food   1,158,349  1,160,317  25,070  28,991 
Fruit    1,079,454  1,051,133  20,368  23,496 
Hogs   934,366  890,379  7,745  8,263

Total  $ 33,882,513 $ 31,244,423 $ 136,948 $ 182,936

Geographic distribution
  Gross   Impaired 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017  2018  2017

Ontario   $ 10,181,357 $ 9,535,590 $ 22,699 $ 22,122 
Alberta and British Columbia  9,840,264  9,127,845  44,049  75,808 
Saskatchewan    5,687,916  5,177,713  14,774  17,311 
Quebec   4,335,325  3,880,438  22,857  39,091 
Manitoba   2,604,928  2,334,569  2,449  4,805 
Atlantic   1,232,723  1,188,268  30,120  23,799

Total  $ 33,882,513 $ 31,244,423 $ 136,948 $ 182,936

6. Loans receivable – net (continued)
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7. Finance leases receivable – net
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Total minimum finance lease payments receivable
Less than one year $ 8,675 $ 6,498
Between one and five years  12,114  11,048

Finance leases receivable – gross  20,789  17,546
Unearned finance income  (1,118)  (1,029)
Allowance for credit losses (Note 8)  (58)  (49)

Finance leases receivable – net $ 19,613 $ 16,468

FCC retains as collateral a security interest in the equipment associated with finance leases. The maximum term 
for finance leases receivable is five years.

8. Allowance for credit losses
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018   2017 

  Finance   Finance 
 Loans leases  Loans leases 
 receivable receivable Total receivable receivable Total

Individual allowance,  
 beginning of year $ 78,370 $ – $ 78,370 $ 87,686 $ – $ 87,686 
Provision for credit losses  6,150  –  6,150  5,030  –  5,030 
Losses covered 
 under HILLRP  318  –  318  732  –  732 
Unwind adjustment 
 on impaired loans  1,005  –  1,005  (3,403)  –  (3,403) 
Writeoffs  (23,521)  –  (23,521)  (15,096)  –  (15,096) 
Recoveries  2,021  –  2,021  3,421  –  3,421

Individual allowance, 
 end of year  64,343  –  64,343  78,370  –  78,370

Collective allowance, 
 beginning of year  135,245  49  135,294  122,344  29  122,373 
Provision for credit losses  24,722  9  24,731  14,239  20  14,259 
Losses covered 
 under HILLRP  (265)  –  (265)  (241)  –  (241) 
Writeoffs  (2,158)  –  (2,158)  (1,743)  –  (1,743) 
Recoveries  647  –  647  646  –  646

Collective allowance, 
 end of year  158,191  58  158,249  135,245  49  135,294

Total allowance $ 222,534 $ 58 $ 222,592 $ 213,615 $ 49 $ 213,664
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9. Investment in associates
Summarized financial information for FCC’s associates is set out below. The summarized financial information 
represents amounts prepared in accordance with IFRS and adjusted for significant intervening transactions.  
FCC has used this information for equity accounting purposes.

As at March 31 ($ thousands)     2018   

   Avrio  Avrio  Avrio 
   Fund I  Fund II  Fund III  Total

Revenue  $ – $ 14,742 $ 312 $ 15,054 
Net (loss) income   (32)  (184)  (7,000)  (7,216)

Assets   –  75,820  39,812  115,632 
Liabilities   –  156  6,389  6,545

Net assets   –  75,664  33,423  109,087
Proportion of FCC’s ownership  66.9%  54.7%  49.0%  

Carrying amount of FCC’s interest $ – $ 41,388 $ 16,377 $ 57,765

As at March 31 ($ thousands)     2017   

   Avrio  Avrio  Avrio 
   Fund I  Fund II  Fund III  Total

Revenue  $ 575 $ 4,023 $ 129 $ 4,727 
Net (loss) income   367  6,202  (4,379)  2,190

Assets   225  76,640  21,299  98,164 
Liabilities   140  50  3,022  3,212

Net assets   85  76,590  18,277  94,952
Proportion of FCC’s ownership  66.9%  54.7%  49.0%  

Carrying amount of FCC’s interest $ 57 $ 41,895 $ 8,956 $ 50,908

Distributions received during the year were $2.9 million (2017 – $16.4 million).

10. Venture capital investments
As at March 31, 2018, FCC had $77.1 million (2017 – $55.0 million) in venture capital investments, of which  
$76.4 million (2017 – $55.0 million) was carried in debt investments and $0.7 million (2017 – $nil) was carried  
in equity investments. Of the debt investments, $7.2 million (2017 – $nil) is due to FCC within one year,  
$62.2 million (2017 – $47.5 million) is due between one and five years and $7.0 million (2017 – $7.5 million)  
is due later than five years. Venture capital investments are made in the agribusiness and agri-food sector.

The venture capital investment portfolio exposes FCC to credit risk. Venture capital investments are typically 
secured by a general security agreement, assignment of life insurance proceeds and personal guarantees.  
As at March 31, 2018, there were no venture capital debt investments past due (2017 – $nil).
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11. Post-employment benefits

Financial position of benefit plans

FCC measures its defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at  
March 31 of each year.

The amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are as follows:

  Registered pension plan 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations $ (769,544) $ (686,090) 
Fair value of plan assets  819,800  739,626

Net asset for defined benefit obligations $ 50,256 $ 53,536

  Supplemental pension plans 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations $ (79,473) $ (64,950) 
Fair value of plan assets  48,840  45,658

Funded status  (30,633)  (19,292) 
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations  (14,619)  (14,257)

Net liability for defined benefit obligations $ (45,252) $ (33,549)

  Other benefits 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations $ (100,029) $ (105,160)

Net liability for defined benefit obligations $ (100,029) $ (105,160)

The total net asset for defined benefit obligations is $50.3 million (2017 – $53.5 million). This amount is recorded 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as post-employment benefit assets. The total net liability for defined benefit 
obligations is $145.3 million (2017 – $138.7 million). This amount is recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as post-employment benefit liabilities.
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Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
   Registered pension plan   Supplemental pension plans  Other benefits 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017

Defined benefit obligation, 
 beginning of year  $ 686,090  $ 668,578 $ 79,207  $ 72,766 $ 105,160  $ 97,980 
Current service cost   22,121   23,320  1,663   1,276  6,772   6,750 
Interest cost on the  
 defined benefit obligation  26,771   25,444  3,039   2,711  4,230   3,854 
Contributions by employees   8,591   8,393  543   486  –   – 
Benefits paid   (16,010)   (16,862)  (2,315)   (1,986)  (1,172)   (902) 
Experience adjustments  
 on plan liabilities   (525)   (8,859)  5,226   5,427  (872)   (229) 
Actuarial loss (gain) from changes  
 in liability assumptions   42,506   (13,924)  6,729   (1,473)  (14,089)   (2,293)

Defined benefit obligation, 
 end of year  $ 769,544  $ 686,090 $ 94,092  $ 79,207 $ 100,029  $ 105,160

The duration of the registered and supplemental pension plan’s defined benefit obligation is 20 years  
(2017 – 19 years). The duration of the other benefit plan’s defined benefit obligation is 27 years (2017 – 26 years).

Movements in the fair value of plan assets
   Registered pension plan   Supplemental pension plans  Other benefits 

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018   2017  2018   2017  2018   2017

Fair value of plan assets, 
 beginning of year  $ 739,626  $ 651,472 $ 45,658  $ 41,553 $ –  $ – 
Interest income on  
 plan assets   28,728   24,495  1,782   1,626  –   – 
Return on plan assets greater  
 (less) than the discount rate  18,701   42,552  93   (602)  –   – 
Contributions by FCC   41,042   30,287  4,383   6,413  1,172   902 
Contributions by employees   8,591   8,393  543   486  –   – 
Benefits paid   (16,010)   (16,862)  (2,315)   (1,986)  (1,172)   (902) 
Plan administration costs    (878)   (711)  (148)   (147)  –   – 
Tax effect on refundable  
 tax assets    –   –  (1,156)   (1,685)  –   –

Fair value of plan assets, 
 end of year  $ 819,800  $ 739,626 $ 48,840  $ 45,658 $ –  $ –

11. Post-employment benefits (continued)
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Defined benefit costs recognized in net income
  Registered Supplemental Other 
  pension plan pension plans benefits Total 

For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017  2018  2017  2018  2017  2018  2017

Current service cost $ 22,121 $ 23,320 $ 1,663 $ 1,276 $ 6,772 $ 6,750 $ 30,556 $ 31,346 
Net interest  (1,957)  949  1,257  1,085  4,230  3,854  3,530  5,888 
Plan administration costs  878  711  148  147  –  –  1,026  858 
Tax effect on refundable tax assets  –  –  632  876  –  –  632  876

  $ 21,042 $ 24,980 $ 3,700 $ 3,384 $ 11,002 $ 10,604 $ 35,744 $ 38,968

Defined benefit costs recognized in OCI
  Registered pension plan 

For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)         2018  2017

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities         $ 525 $ 8,859 
Return on plan assets greater than the discount rate        18,701  42,552 
Actuarial (loss) gain from changes in liability assumptions        (42,506)  13,924

Remeasurement (loss) gain          $ (23,280) $ 65,335

  Supplemental pension plans

For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)         2018  2017

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities         $ (5,226) $ (5,427) 
Return on plan assets greater (less) than the discount rate        93  (602) 
Actuarial (loss) gain from changes in liability assumptions        (6,729)  1,473 
Tax effect on refundable tax assets          (524)  (809)

Remeasurement loss           $ (12,386) $ (5,365)

  Other benefits 

For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)        2018  2017

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities        $ 872 $ 229 
Actuarial gain from changes in liability assumptions       14,089  2,293

Remeasurement gain          $ 14,961 $ 2,522

Total remeasurement losses of $20.7 million (2017 – $62.5 million gains) are recognized in OCI. The cumulative 
remeasurement losses recognized in OCI as at March 31, 2018, were $71.0 million (2017 – $50.3 million).

11. Post-employment benefits (continued)
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Plan assets

The percentages of plan assets by asset type based on market values at the most recent actuarial valuation  
are as follows:

   Registered   Supplemental  
   pension plan    pension plans  

As at March 31  2018 2017 2018 2017 

Equity securities 50.5% 61.3% 97.9% 92.6% 
Debt securities 39.2% 27.8% – 0.1% 
Real estate  10.2% 10.1% – – 
Cash 0.1% 0.8% 2.1% 7.3%

  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Significant assumptions

The significant assumptions used are as follows (weighted-average):

  Registered   Supplemental   Other  
  pension plan   pension plans   benefits  

As at March 31  2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Defined benefit obligation 
Discount rate  3.50% 3.80% 3.50% 3.80% 3.50% 3.80% 
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 
Consumer price index   2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% – –

Defined benefit costs 
Discount rate  3.80% 3.70% 3.80% 3.70% 3.80% 3.70% 
Consumer price index   2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% – –

At March 31, 2018 and 2017, the mortality assumption for the defined benefit obligation is based on the 2014 Public 
Sector Mortality publication and Canadian Pensioners Mortality Improvement Scale B, with pension size adjustment 
factors for males of 0.8614 and for females of 0.9855. As at March 31, 2018 and 2017, the average life expectancy 
of an individual retiring at age 65 is 24 years for males and 25 years for females.

Assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows:

As at March 31 2018 2017 

Extended health care and dental care cost escalation 
Initial rate 7.50% 7.00% 
Ultimate rate 4.50% 5.00% 

Year ultimate rate reached 2030 2021 

11. Post-employment benefits (continued)
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Sensitivity analysis

The impact of changing the key weighted-average economic assumptions used in measuring the defined benefit 
obligation is as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 

  Registered Supplemental Other 
Increase (decrease) defined benefit obligation pension plan pension plans benefits

1% increase in discount rate  $ (135,505) $ (16,219) $ (22,305) 
1% decrease in discount rate  181,785  20,275  31,609 
0.25% increase in rate of compensation increase  5,844  2,855  91 
0.25% decrease in rate of compensation increase  (5,980)  (3,368)  (88) 
1% increase in consumer price index  126,934  14,584  – 
1% decrease in consumer price index  (102,297)  (12,699)  – 
One year increase in expected lifetime of plan participants   17,713  2,552  3,291 
1% increase in assumed overall health care cost trend rates  –  –  28,059 
1% decrease in assumed overall health care cost trend rates  –  –  (20,315)

Defined contribution pension plans

The cost of the defined contribution pension plans is recorded based on the contributions in the current year  
and is included in salaries and benefits. For the year ended March 31, 2018, the expense was $7.4 million  
(2017 – $6.0 million).

Total cash payments

Total cash payments for post-employment benefits, consisting of cash contributed by FCC to its funded pension 
plans, cash payments directly to beneficiaries for its unfunded other benefit plans and cash contributed to its 
defined contribution pension plan, were $54.0 million (2017 – $44.0 million).

Total cash payments for post-employment benefits for 2019, as described in the preceding paragraph,  
are anticipated to be approximately $53.1 million.

11. Post-employment benefits (continued)
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12. Equipment and leasehold improvements
   Office 
  Leasehold equipment and Computer 
($ thousands)  improvements furniture equipment Total

Cost          
Balance as at March 31, 2016 $ 54,844 $ 26,584 $ 17,093 $ 98,521 
Additions   3,859  605  4,976  9,440 
Disposals   (3,824)  (309)  (5,286)  (9,419)

Balance as at March 31, 2017  54,879  26,880  16,783  98,542 
Additions   2,365  868  5,334  8,567 
Disposals   (564)  (90)  (3,397)  (4,051)

Balance as at March 31, 2018 $ 56,680 $ 27,658 $ 18,720 $ 103,058

Accumulated depreciation         
Balance as at March 31, 2016 $ 40,464 $ 22,502 $ 13,301 $ 76,267 
Depreciation   3,267  1,539  2,631  7,437 
Disposals   (3,812)  (308)  (5,276)  (9,396)

Balance as at March 31, 2017  39,919  23,733  10,656  74,308 
Depreciation   3,111  1,357  3,820  8,288 
Disposals   (564)  (90)  (3,397)  (4,051)

Balance as at March 31, 2018 $ 42,466 $ 25,000 $ 11,079 $ 78,545

Carrying value 
March 31, 2017   $ 14,960 $ 3,147 $ 6,127 $ 24,234 
March 31, 2018   14,214  2,658  7,641  24,513
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13. Computer software
   Internally 
($ thousands)   developed Purchased Total

Cost          
Balance as at March 31, 2016   $ 133,907 $ 12,048 $ 145,955 
Additions     10,447  952  11,399 
Disposals     (8,931)  (727)  (9,658)

Balance as at March 31, 2017    135,423  12,273  147,696 
Additions     9,374  208  9,582 
Disposals     (1,028)  (83)  (1,111)

Balance as at March 31, 2018   $ 143,769 $ 12,398 $ 156,167

Accumulated amortization         
Balance as at March 31, 2016   $ 102,761 $ 9,887 $ 112,648 
Amortization     10,856  884  11,740 
Disposals     (8,931)  (727)  (9,658)

Balance as at March 31, 2017    104,686  10,044  114,730 
Amortization     8,407  690  9,097 
Disposals     (1,028)  (83)  (1,111)

Balance as at March 31, 2018   $ 112,065 $ 10,651 $ 122,716

Carrying value 
March 31, 2017     $ 30,737 $ 2,229 $ 32,966 
March 31, 2018     31,704  1,747  33,451

Research and development costs related to internally developed computer software in the amount of $11.3 million 
(2017 – $12.4 million) have been included within facilities, software and equipment expenses.
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14. Equipment under operating leases
($ thousands)    

Cost 
Balance as at March 31, 2016   $ 104,481 
Additions    50,043 
Disposals    (30,137)

Balance as at March 31, 2017    124,387 
Additions    59,510 
Disposals    (34,745)

Balance as at March 31, 2018   $ 149,152

Accumulated depreciation 
Balance as at March 31, 2016   $ 29,097 
Depreciation    18,175 
Disposals    (13,735)

Balance as at March 31, 2017    33,537 
Depreciation    21,414 
Disposals    (16,469)

Balance as at March 31, 2018   $ 38,482

Carrying value 
March 31, 2017   $ 90,850 
March 31, 2018    110,670

15. Other assets
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Insurance reserve assets $ 12,331 $ 22,143 
Real estate property held for sale  111  36

  $ 12,442 $ 22,179

16. Borrowings

Short-term debt
As at March 31 ($ thousands)          2018    2017 

Government of Canada debt           
Floating-rate borrowings         $ 5,619,703 $ 6,026,860 
Fixed-rate borrowings          4,774,850  3,883,242

          10,394,553  9,910,102

Capital markets debt
USD fixed-rate promissory notes(1)        524,593  506,037

         $ 10,919,146 $ 10,416,139

(1) $406.4 million USD (2017 – $380.2 million USD).
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Short-term debt by maturity date

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 

  Government of Canada   Capital markets 

   Carrying   Carrying 
   value Yield  value Yield Total

From 0 – 3 months $ 2,633,526 1.01% $ 524,593 1.69% $ 3,158,119 
From 4 – 6 months  2,454,932 1.12%  – –  2,454,932 
From 7 – 9 months  3,208,657 1.12%  – –  3,208,657 
From 10 – 12 months  2,097,438 1.10%  – –  2,097,438

  $ 10,394,553  $ 524,593  $ 10,919,146

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2017 

  Government of Canada   Capital markets 

   Carrying   Carrying 
   value Yield  value Yield Total

From 0 – 3 months $ 2,449,103 0.52% $ 506,037 0.77% $ 2,955,140 
From 4 – 6 months  2,473,580 0.53%  – –  2,473,580 
From 7 – 9 months  2,784,453 0.55%  – –  2,784,453 
From 10 – 12 months  2,202,966 0.48%  – –  2,202,966

  $ 9,910,102  $ 506,037  $ 10,416,139

Short-term debt continuity
As at March 31 ($ thousands)          2018    2017 

Short-term debt, beginning of year        $ 10,416,139 $ 12,352,406 
Financing cash flows 
 Debt issued          10,906,762  16,160,430 
 Debt repaid          (11,270,209)  (15,745,739) 
Non-cash changes 
 Change in short-term portion of long-term debt       940,743  (2,434,625) 
 Debt transacted, not settled         (80,000)  80,000 
 Change in interest accrual          3,054  2,675 
 Change due to unrealized foreign exchange loss       2,657  992

Short-term debt, end of year       $  10,919,146 $ 10,416,139

FCC has a demand operating line of credit, which provides overdraft protection in the amount of $30.0 million 
(2017 – $30.0 million). Indebtedness under this agreement is unsecured and this credit facility does not expire.  
Any draws made throughout the year on this credit facility are reversed the next day. As at March 31, 2018,  
there were no draws on this credit facility (2017 – $nil).

16. Borrowings (continued)



100 | Annual Report 2017-18

Farm Credit Canada – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Long-term debt
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Government of Canada debt    
Floating-rate borrowings $ 12,443,337 $ 11,450,675
Fixed-rate borrowings  5,228,107  4,748,150

  17,671,444  16,198,825

Capital markets debt    
Retail and institutional fixed-rate notes  308,751  309,207

 $ 17,980,195 $ 16,508,032

Long-term debt by maturity date

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 

  Government of Canada   Capital markets 

   Carrying   Carrying 
   value Yield  value Yield Total

From 1 – 2 years $ 6,128,979 1.08% $ – – $ 6,128,979 
From 2 – 3 years  2,575,058 1.15%  18,735 4.32%  2,593,793 
From 3 – 4 years  5,974,334 1.19%  290,016 4.37%  6,264,350 
From 4 – 5 years  2,526,448 1.20%  – –  2,526,448 
Over 5 years  466,625 1.29%  – –  466,625

  $ 17,671,444  $ 308,751  $ 17,980,195

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2017 

  Government of Canada   Capital markets 

   Carrying   Carrying 
   value Yield  value Yield Total

From 1 – 2 years $ 6,861,587 0.63% $ – – $ 6,861,587 
From 2 – 3 years  4,874,507 0.50%  – –  4,874,507 
From 3 – 4 years  1,395,236 0.61%  18,735 4.32%  1,413,971 
From 4 – 5 years  2,809,216 0.50%  290,472 4.37%  3,099,688 
Over 5 years  258,279 1.00%  – –  258,279

  $ 16,198,825  $ 309,207  $ 16,508,032

16. Borrowings (continued)



Annual Report 2017-18 | 101

Farm Credit Canada – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Long-term debt continuity
As at March 31 ($ thousands)          2018    2017 

Long-term debt, beginning of year        $ 16,508,032 $ 11,910,379 
Financing cash flows 
 Debt issued          9,226,500  11,039,000 
 Debt repaid          (6,536,263)  (9,166,601) 
Non-cash changes 
 Change in short-term portion of long-term debt       (940,743)  2,434,625 
 Debt transacted, not settled         (290,000)  290,000 
 Change in interest accrual          13,240  1,599 
 Other          (571)  (970)

Long-term debt, end of year        $ 17,980,195 $ 16,508,032

17. Other liabilities
As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Deferred revenues $ 8,799 $ 9,065 
Reserve for insurance claims  –  10,012 
Other  787  581

  $ 9,586 $ 19,658

16. Borrowings (continued)
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18. Net interest income 
For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Interest income  
Loans and receivables $ 1,261,704 $ 1,106,963 
Operating leases  24,684  20,912 
Transfer of net realized gains on derivatives designated  
 as cash flow hedges from AOCI to net income  21,721  21,721 
Short-term investments and cash equivalents  14,808  7,819 
Finance leases classified as loans and receivables  750  620 
Foreign exchange (losses) gains on loans and receivables  (8,606)  6,458

Total interest income for financial instruments not at FVTPL  1,315,061  1,164,493 
Derivative financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL – net  8,480  9,130 
Venture capital investments at FVTPL  6,810  5,505

   1,330,351  1,179,128

Interest expense 
Long-term debt classified as other liabilities  208,167  130,364 
Short-term debt classified as other liabilities  33,154  24,606 
Depreciation on equipment under operating leases  21,279  18,063 
Transition loan liabilities classified as other liabilities  4,051  2,989 
Foreign exchange (gains) losses on cash and short-term  
 debt classified as other liabilities – net  (8,306)  6,386

Total interest expense for financial instruments not at FVTPL  258,345  182,408

Net interest income $ 1,072,006 $ 996,720

The total net fee expense that was recognized immediately in net interest income arising from financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at FVTPL was $17.1 thousand (2017 – $83.5 thousand). Interest income recognized from the 
unwinding of discounts on impaired financial assets was ($1.0) million (2017 – $3.4 million).

19. Administration expenses
As at March 31 ($ thousands)   2018  2017

Salaries  $ 171,876 $ 162,432 
Benefits   66,288  67,771 
Facilities, software and equipment   51,627  47,395 
Professional fees   39,578  37,632 
Amortization and depreciation   17,383  19,177 
Travel and training   15,177  12,677 
Marketing and promotion   10,903  9,798 
Other   11,753  14,265

   $ 384,585 $ 371,147
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20. Fair value adjustment
For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)   2018  2017

Venture capital investments   $ 4 $ (901) 
Guarantees   –  (11) 
Derivative financial assets and liabilities    (13,801)  (11,168)

   $ (13,797) $ (12,080)

21. Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments carried at fair value

FCC follows a three-level fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used to measure fair value. Level 1 is  
based on quoted prices in active markets, Level 2 incorporates models using inputs other than quoted prices and 
Level 3 incorporates models using inputs that are not based on observable market data. Details of the valuation 
methodologies applied and assumptions used in determining fair value are provided in Note 2.

Valuation hierarchy

The following table categorizes the level of inputs used in the valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value:

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 

     Level 2  Level 3  Total

Assets  
Cash equivalents   $ 163,176 $ – $ 163,176 
Short-term investments    398,207  –  398,207 
Derivative financial assets    21,512  –  21,512 
Venture capital investments    –  77,115  77,115

    $ 582,895 $ 77,115 $ 660,010

Liabilities 
Derivative financial liabilities   $ – $ – $ –

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2017 

     Level 2  Level 3  Total

Assets  
Cash equivalents   $ 440,305 $ – $ 440,305 
Short-term investments    435,530  –  435,530 
Derivative financial assets    35,831  –  35,831 
Venture capital investments    –  55,015  55,015

    $ 911,666 $ 55,015 $ 966,681

Liabilities 
Derivative financial liabilities   $ 3 $ – $ 3

Changes in valuation methods may result in transfers into or out of Levels 1, 2 and 3. For the year ended  
March 31, 2018, there were no transfers between levels (2017 – $nil).
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Level 3 financial instruments

The following table summarizes the changes in the Level 3 valuation hierarchy for venture capital investments that 
occurred during the year:

As at March 31 ($ thousands)   2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year     $ 55,015 $ 41,977 
Acquisitions      26,020  23,163 
Change in accrued interest      1,926  776 
Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized in fair value adjustment       4  (901) 
Repayments      (5,850)  (10,000)

Balance, end of year     $ 77,115 $ 55,015

Financial instruments not carried at fair value

The estimated fair value of FCC’s financial instruments that do not approximate carrying values in the financial 
statements, using the methods and assumptions described below, are as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 2017 

   Carrying  Estimated  Carrying  Estimated 
   value  fair value  value  fair value

Assets 
Loans receivable $ 33,636,019 $ 33,600,316 $ 31,007,050 $ 31,169,878  
Finance leases receivable  19,613  19,338  16,468  16,505

Liabilities 
Long-term debt  17,980,195  17,940,429  16,508,032  16,554,987

Financial instruments not carried at fair value as noted in the above table use Level 2 inputs in determining 
estimated fair value.

The estimated fair value for the performing fixed-rate loans receivable is calculated by discounting the expected  
future cash flows at year-end market interest rates for equivalent terms to maturity. The estimated fair value for  
the performing variable-rate loans receivable approximates the carrying value due to having fluctuating interest 
rates that directly correspond to changes in the prime interest rate, on which the fair value is based. The collective 
allowance for credit losses related to loans receivable is subtracted from the estimated fair value of the performing 
loans receivable. The estimated fair value of the impaired loans receivable is equal to its net realizable value,  
which is calculated by subtracting the individual allowance for credit losses from the book value of the impaired 
loans receivable.

The estimated fair value for the finance leases receivable is calculated by discounting the expected future cash  
flows at year-end market interest rates for equivalent terms to maturity. The collective allowance for credit losses 
related to finance leases is subtracted from the estimated fair value of the finance leases receivable.

21. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
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The estimated fair value for long-term debt is calculated by discounting contractual cash flows at interest rates 
prevailing at year-end for equivalent terms to maturity.

For all other financial instruments carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, the carrying  
value approximates fair value due to the relatively short period to maturity of these instruments or because  
they are already at discounted values. This applies to FCC’s accounts receivable, other assets, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, short-term debt, transition loan liability and other liabilities, excluding the reserve for insurance 
claims.

22. Operating lease arrangements 

Operating leases as a lessor

Operating leases consist of agricultural equipment leased to customers under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. The initial lease terms of operating leases range from two to six years.

The future minimum lease payments are receivable as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Amounts due 
Less than one year $ 22,965 $ 19,263 
Between one and five years  44,899  35,404 
Greater than five years  85  4,127

  $ 67,949 $ 58,794

Operating leases as a lessee

FCC leases office space, software, and equipment under operating leases. The lease terms range from one to  
20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable lease contracts are payable as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Amounts due 
Less than one year $ 26,788 $ 23,162 
Between one and five years  74,816  70,934 
Greater than five years  160,628  166,896

  $ 262,232 $ 260,992

Operating lease payments in the amount of $28.2 million (2017 – $25.5 million) have been included within facilities, 
software, and equipment expense.

Contingent rental payments in the amount of $3.7 million (2017 – $7.5 million) have been included within facilities, 
software, and equipment expense.

21. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)



106 | Annual Report 2017-18

Farm Credit Canada – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

Loan and lease commitments

As at March 31, 2018, loans approved but undisbursed amounted to $6,203.5 million (2017 – $6,010.8 million). 
These loans do not form part of the loans receivable balance until disbursed. As many of these loan approvals  
will expire or terminate without being drawn upon, the contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash 
requirements. As at March 31, 2018, finance leases approved but undisbursed amounted to $0.3 million (2017 – 
$4.6 million) and operating leases approved but undisbursed amounted to $4.0 million (2017 – $4.3 million).  
These leases do not form part of the finance leases receivable or equipment under operating leases balances until 
disbursed. These commitments do not generate liquidity risk to FCC because it has sufficient funds available from  
the Government of Canada through the Crown Borrowing Program to meet its future cash requirements. 

Investment in associates

As at March 31, 2018, FCC has committed to invest $27.1 million (2017 – $45.3 million) in investments  
in associates.

Venture capital commitments

As at March 31, 2018, FCC has committed to invest $3.0 million (2017 – $nil) in venture capital investments.

Capital commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for equipment and leasehold improvements at the end of the fiscal year  
but not yet incurred are $1.2 million (2017 – $nil).

Guarantees

In the normal course of its business, FCC issues guarantees in the form of letters of credit that represent  
an obligation to make payments to third parties on behalf of its customers if customers are unable to make  
the required payments or meet other contractual obligations. The maximum amount potentially payable as  
at March 31, 2018, is $5.6 million (2017 – $5.5 million). In the event of a call on these letters of credit, FCC  
has recourse in the form of security against its customers for amounts to be paid to the third party. Existing 
guarantees will expire within three years, usually without being drawn upon. As at March 31, 2018, an amount  
of $nil (2017 – $nil) was recorded for these letters of credit.

Contingent liabilities and provisions

Various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business are pending against FCC. Management does 
not believe that liabilities arising from pending litigations will have a material adverse effect on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet or the results of operations of FCC, therefore, no amount has been included in the consolidated 
financial statements as at March 31, 2018, for these contingent liabilities.

In the normal course of operations, FCC enters into agreements that provide general indemnification. These 
indemnifications typically occur in service contracts and strategic alliance agreements and, in certain circumstances, 
may require that FCC compensates the counterparty to the agreement for various costs resulting from breaches of
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representations or obligations. FCC also indemnifies directors, officers and employees, to the extent permitted by 
law and FCC’s governing legislation, against certain claims that may be made against them as a result of their 
being directors, officers or employees. The terms of these indemnifications vary, therefore FCC is unable to 
determine a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be required to pay to counterparties. 
Historically, FCC has not made any payments under such indemnifications and contingencies. No amount has 
been included in the consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2018, for these indemnifications and 
contingencies.

24. Related party transactions
FCC is related in terms of common ownership to all Government of Canada departments, agencies and Crown 
corporations. 

FCC is related to Avrio Subordinated Debt Fund I and Avrio Subordinated Debt Fund II. They are limited 
partnerships for which FCC holds 99% (2017 – 99%) of the partnership units. The Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds 
are consolidated as described in Note 2. All transactions between FCC and the Avrio Subordinated Debt Funds 
have been eliminated on consolidation and, as such, are not disclosed as related party transactions.

FCC is related to Avrio Fund I, Avrio Fund II, and Avrio Fund III. They are limited partnerships for which FCC holds 
67% (2017 – 67%), 55% (2017 – 55%) and 46% (2017 – 46%), respectively, of the partnership units. FCC is 
entitled to 20% (2017 – 20%) of the voting rights of Avrio Fund I and Avrio Fund II, and 14% (2017 – 14%)  
of Avrio Fund III. The Avrio Equity Funds are venture capital limited partnerships where FCC exerts significant 
influence over operating, investing and financing decisions. These are accounted for using the equity method.

Other related parties of FCC are key management personnel, close family members of key management personnel 
and entities that are controlled, significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power is held by key 
management personnel or their close family members, and post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of 
FCC’s employees. 

Transactions with these entities were entered into in the normal course of business and are measured according  
to the relevant IFRS standard applicable to the transaction.

Transactions with the Government of Canada 

The Government of Canada guarantees the borrowings of FCC.

FCC enters into short- and long-term borrowings with the Government of Canada through the Crown Borrowing 
Program. For the year ended March 31, 2018, $221.1 million (2017 – $138.4 million) was recorded in interest 
expense relating to these borrowings.

FCC receives government assistance from the HILLRP to share the credit losses on certain loans with the 
Government of Canada. The government assistance is recorded as either an increase or decrease to the provision 
for credit losses. For the year ended March 31, 2018, the increase recorded to the provision for credit losses  
was $0.1 million (2017 – $0.5 million). The amount estimated to be returned to the Government of Canada  
is $31.7 million (2017 – $38.9 million) and is included in borrowings.

FCC pays a dividend to the Government of Canada on an annual basis, as detailed in Note 25.

23. Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities (continued)
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Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel includes directors and members of the Enterprise Management Team. Close family 
members of key management personnel are considered related parties and have been included in the amounts 
disclosed below.

The compensation paid by FCC during the year to key management personnel for services rendered is shown 
below:

For the year ended March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits $ 3,782 $ 3,707 
Post-employment benefits  1,076  954 
Board retainer and per diems  146  147

Total $ 5,004 $ 4,808

Transactions with key management personnel

All transactions with key management personnel are with directors and entities related to those directors. The 
terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel were no more favourable than those 
available on similar transactions with other customers.

Loans to key management personnel outstanding as at March 31, 2018 were $13.0 million (2017 – $5.8 million). 
The maximum balance outstanding on these loans during the year ended March 31, 2018, was $13.8 million 
(2017 – $6.6 million). The weighted-average interest rate on the loans to key management personnel outstanding 
as at March 31, 2018, was 4.4% (2017 – 5.3%).

The loans to key management personnel are secured under similar conditions as transactions with other 
customers and the key management personnel entering into these transactions were subject to the same credit 
assessment process applied to all customers. There is no individual allowance established as at March 31, 2018,  
for the loans made to key management personnel (2017 – $nil).

Undrawn credit commitments with key management personnel totalled $20.7 million as at March 31, 2018  
(2017 – $38.9 million). 

Transactions with post-employment benefit plans

During the year, $141 thousand was received from the defined benefit pension plan (2017 – $205 thousand)  
for administrative services and was recorded in salaries and benefits. 

24. Related party transactions (continued)
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25. Capital management
FCC manages capital in compliance with its Board-approved Capital Management policy. The Capital 
Management policy and supporting framework outline FCC’s approach to assessing capital requirements for risks 
identified through its enterprise risk management framework. The objective of the Capital Management policy 
and supporting framework is to maintain a sound capital position to withstand economic downturn, periods  
of extended loss, and to support FCC’s strategic direction. This will allow FCC to continue to serve the industry 
through all economic cycles.

Although not formally regulated, FCC manages its capital using a total capital ratio, dividing total capital by 
risk-weighted assets, as defined by the Capital Adequacy Requirements (CAR) guideline issued by the Office of 
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI). This total capital ratio is then compared to the minimum capital 
requirements established by CAR and FCC’s target capital ratio established through its Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process.

FCC’s total capital consists of retained earnings, contributed surplus, and AOCI, and is net of required regulatory 
adjustments as outlined in the CAR guideline. Applicable adjustments include the exclusion of computer software, 
accumulated gains or losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, and post-employment benefit assets. 
All of FCC’s capital is considered Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital, therefore total capital and CET1 capital  
are equivalent.

As at March 31, 2018 and 2017, FCC’s total capital ratio was greater than both the minimum regulatory capital 
ratio and the target capital ratio, and therefore in compliance with OSFI’s CAR guideline and FCC’s Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process.

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017 

Capital 
Retained earnings $ 5,447,657 $ 5,106,783  
Contributed surplus  547,725  547,725  
AOCI   64,387  86,271  
Required regulatory adjustments: 
 Computer software  (33,451)  (32,966)  
 Post-employment benefit assets  (50,256)  (53,536)  
 Accumulated net gains on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  (64,737)  (86,458) 

CET1/Total capital $ 5,911,325 $ 5,567,819 

Risk-weighted assets 
Credit risk-weighted assets $ 34,657,396 $ 32,358,883  
Operational risk-weighted assets  1,896,951  1,823,987 

Total risk-weighted assets $ 36,554,347 $ 34,182,870 

Total capital ratio  16.2%  16.3%

Target capital ratio  15.0%  15.0%

Minimum regulatory capital ratio  10.5%  10.5%
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Debt to equity

FCC’s only statutory limit, as prescribed by the Farm Credit Canada Act, requires that FCC’s total direct  
and contingent liabilities not exceed 12 times equity. As at March 31, 2018, FCC’s total direct and contingent 
liabilities were 4.88 times the shareholder’s equity, excluding AOCI (2017 – 4.82 times the shareholder’s equity, 
excluding AOCI).

Contributed surplus

FCC’s contributed surplus consists of capital contributions made by the Government of Canada, net of the  
March 31, 1998, reallocation of $660.6 million to eliminate FCC’s accumulated deficit.

As at March 31, 2018, cumulative capital payments received from the Government of Canada amounted to 
$1,208.3 million (2017 – $1,208.3 million). No capital payments have been received since 2006. The statutory  
limit for that same period was $1,250.0 million (2017 – $1,250.0 million).

Dividend

On August 17, 2017, the Board declared a dividend for the year ended March 31, 2017, in the amount of  
$308.3 million (2017 – $268.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2016) to FCC’s shareholder, the Government 
of Canada, which was paid on September 27, 2017. 

26. Risk management

Financial risk management

FCC has identified the major categories of financial risk to which it is exposed as credit risk, market risk and 
liquidity risk.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss due to the failure of a borrower or other counterparty to repay a loan 
or meet financial obligations to FCC. Credit risk on loans and leases receivable is the most significant risk that FCC 
faces, although credit risk also exists on investments and derivative financial instruments.

Management of credit risk 

The Board is responsible for approving FCC’s Credit Risk Management policy and relies on a number of 
committees, divisions and business units to effectively manage credit risk. 

Measurement of credit risk

The Risk Management division assesses credit risk at the aggregate level, providing detailed credit policies, 
assessment tools and models that quantify credit risk, allowance for credit losses and capital requirements. It also 
monitors the agriculture and agri-food operating environments to ensure FCC’s lending policies, activities and 
prices are appropriate and relevant.

Policies, processes, systems and strategies are used to manage the credit risk of FCC’s portfolio. Each year, Risk 
Management develops a comprehensive portfolio vision to set numeric risk metrics for many of these tools, 
models and strategies. 

25. Capital management (continued)
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Significant research, modelling, validation and interpretation are used to develop the risk metrics for each tool  
as follows:

Risk scoring and pricing system

The risk scoring and pricing system (RSPS) is used to rank risk for loans in FCC’s portfolio. Risk ranking is based on 
customer, loan and enterprise characteristics, which model a risk score. Each score translates into a probability of 
default. The higher the score, the lower the probability of default. RSPS is also used to price loans.

RSPS scores are based on inputs that are categorized under four main themes: 

• customer credit rating and historical payment performance
• customer financial ratios
• customer business experience
• customer primary enterprise

RSPS weights each characteristic differently to arrive at the final RSPS score. These weightings are based on  
FCC’s historical experience and are set with the objective to maximize the system’s ability to predict probability  
of default. 

Allowance for credit losses model

The allowance for credit losses model estimates incurred losses in the portfolio due to credit risk. There are two 
components to the allowance for credit losses model: individual and collective. The allowance on individual loans  
is determined for non-performing loans when, in management’s opinion, credit quality has deteriorated to the 
extent that FCC no longer has reasonable assurance of the timely collection of the full amount of principal and 
interest. In addition, an individual allowance is determined for loans that have met both the following criteria:

• minimum of $500 past due for 90 consecutive days or more 
• insufficient collateral to recover amounts outstanding

The collective allowance is calculated on loans within the portfolio that have no individual allowance and have 
met one of these indicators of potential future impairment: 

•  all loans for customers with any one loan that has a minimum balance of $500 past due for less than  
90 consecutive days

•  all loans for customers with any one loan that has had an amortization extension within the terms of the  
loan in the past year

• any individual loan that has had a drop in the RSPS risk score of 15 or more points in the past year

A collective allowance is also calculated on those loans where losses are thought to have been incurred but 
evidence of the loss has not been exhibited. Based on historical experience, there is an emergence period 
between when impairment occurs and when it becomes evident in the portfolio. From the emergence period, 
migration rates are used to determine incurred losses within the portfolio that are not yet evident. For all 
components of the allowance for credit losses model, the model considers the collateral position, as well as 
customer, loan and collateral characteristics, to estimate the appropriate amount of allowance. 

26. Risk management (continued)
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Collateral

FCC mitigates its credit risk through collateral. FCC monitors the portfolio by reviewing the loan-to-security ratio, 
both on an overall portfolio basis and by enterprise. Upon initial recognition of a loan, the fair value of collateral is 
based on valuation techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value  
is updated by reference to market prices or indexes of similar assets. The form of collateral obtained is generally real 
estate, quotas or equipment, depending on the purpose of the loan.

Macro measures that demonstrate the health of the portfolio are as follows:

As at March 31 2018 2017 

Weighted-average loan-to-security ratio for secured loans 50.1% 49.8%
Loans secured by a general security agreement and unsecured loans  
 as a percentage of loans receivable 4.3% 4.0%

Loan commitments 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, 
guarantees or letters of credit. FCC is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused 
commitments. See Note 23 for further details regarding FCC’s loan commitments. To mitigate risk, unused 
commitments are included as input into FCC’s capital requirement calculations.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

On balance sheet 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 828,569 $ 790,596 
Short-term investments  398,207  435,530 
Accounts receivable  37,114  389,048 
Derivative financial assets  21,512  35,831 
Loans receivable  33,882,513  31,244,423 
Finance leases receivable  20,789  17,546 
Investment in associates  57,765  50,908 
Venture capital investments  77,115  55,015 
Other assets  12,442  22,179

   35,336,026  33,041,076

Off balance sheet 
Financial guarantees  5,589  5,536 
Loan and lease commitments  6,207,849  6,019,684 
Operating lease receivable  67,949  58,794 
Investment in associates commitments  27,079  45,300 
Venture capital commitments  3,000  –

   6,311,466  6,129,314

Total maximum exposure to credit risk $ 41,647,492 $ 39,170,390

The preceding table represents a worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure to FCC at the end of the year, without 
taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on balance sheet assets, the 
exposure is based on carrying values as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. For off balance sheet items, 
the exposure is based on the maximum amount that FCC would have to pay if the item was called upon.

26. Risk management (continued)
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Loans receivable

Loans receivable past due but not impaired

A loan is considered to be past due when a customer has not made a payment by the contractual due date  
and the amount owing is greater than $500. Loans less than 90 consecutive days past due are not considered 
impaired, unless other information is available to the contrary. As well, loans past due are not considered impaired 
if they are sufficiently secured and collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in full repayment. The longer 
the loan is past due and interest continues to accrue, the greater the risk the recoverable amount from the security 
value is less than the carrying value of the loan. Gross amounts of loans that were past due but not impaired  
were as follows:

As at March 31 ($ thousands)  2018  2017

Past due but not impaired 
Up to 30 days $ 202,013 $ 206,557 
31 – 60 days  51,665  52,369 
61 – 89 days  24,318  18,812  
90 days or more  129,540  71,884

  $ 407,536 $ 349,622

Loans receivable neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of loans that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by referencing FCC’s RSPS 
scores. The total owing for each RSPS score bucket as a percentage of the total owing that is neither past due nor 
impaired is as follows:

As at March 31 2018 2017 

RSPS score 
400-650 0.3% 0.4% 
651-769 9.0% 8.3% 
770-850 81.1% 81.3% 
851-999 9.6% 10.0%

  100.0% 100.0%

The majority of the RSPS scores are updated on a monthly basis. For certain types of loans, different approval and 
credit management processes are used. These represent approximately 5% of FCC’s total portfolio.

Counterparty credit risk – derivatives and short-term investments 

Credit risk arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on a contractual obligation to FCC. To mitigate 
this risk, FCC complies with the guidelines issued by the Minister of Finance by entering into derivatives with 
counterparties of high credit quality only, as determined by the published ratings of external credit rating agencies. 

In the normal course of business, FCC receives collateral on certain transactions to reduce its exposure to 
counterparty credit risk. FCC is normally permitted to sell, dispose, invest or re-pledge the collateral it receives 
under terms that are common and customary to standard derivative activities.

26. Risk management (continued)
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The counterparty derivative obligation may arise when market-related currency and interest factors change, 
resulting in unrealized gains to FCC. These unrealized gains result in positive fair values for these derivative  
financial instruments. FCC is not exposed to credit risk for the full notional amount of the derivative contracts,  
but only to the potential replacement cost if the counterparty defaults. Furthermore, standard credit mitigation via 
master netting agreements provided in the International Swap and Derivatives Association (ISDA) documentation 
provide for the simultaneous closeout and netting of positions with a counterparty in the event of default. The 
master netting arrangements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. This is 
because they create a right of set-off of recognized amounts that is enforceable only following an event of default 
of the counterparty. In addition, FCC and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realize the 
assets and settle liabilities simultaneously. Credit Support Annex (CSA) documentation is also in place with most  
of FCC’s counterparties. These agreements are addendums to existing ISDA documentation, and further specify  
the conditions for providing FCC with collateral in the event the counterparty credit exposure exceeds an agreed 
threshold. For derivative transactions where a CSA is in place, the counterparty must have a minimum long-term 
credit rating of A- from two or more external credit rating agencies (S&P, Moody’s or DBRS). See Note 5 for the 
quantification of counterparty credit risk.

Short-term investments are permitted with government counterparties. These investments are limited to a term  
to maturity equal to or less than one year and must have a minimum long-term credit rating of A low/A3/A- from 
two or more external credit rating agencies. FCC also has cash equivalents that are permitted with schedule 1  
and 2 banks. These investments are limited to a term to maturity equal to or less than 90 days and must have a 
minimum short-term credit rating of A1-/R1-low/P-1 from two or more external credit rating agencies. The actual 
credit ratings will determine the maximum face amount of investments per counterparty.

FCC reviews credit ratings and the financial performance of counterparties regularly and has controls in place to 
manage counterparty risk.

Credit quality

The following table presents the credit quality of FCC’s cash equivalents and short-term investments as rated  
by S&P:

 As at March 31 ($ thousands) 2018 2017 

    Cash  Short-term  Cash  Short-term  
    equivalents  investments  equivalents  investments

Government & government  
 guaranteed 
AAA   $ – $ 22,874 $ – $ 114,679
AA+   –  –  –  53,931
AA   –  9,992  12,991  44,606
AA-   24,979  131,767  –  –
A+   30,470  233,574  –  222,314

    55,449  398,207  12,991  435,530

Schedule 1 banks        
A-1+   107,726  –  174,807  –
A-1   –  –  252,507  –

    107,726  –  427,314  –

   $ 163,175 $ 398,207 $ 440,305 $ 435,530

26. Risk management (continued)
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Venture capital debt investments

FCC is exposed to credit risk through its Avrio Subordinated Debt Fund investments. FCC manages credit risk 
through thoughtful planning, strict investment criteria, significant due diligence of investment opportunities and by 
conducting activities in accordance with each fund’s Limited Partnership Agreement. The investment managers 
monitor and report on the financial condition of investee companies regularly.

b) Market risk

Market risk is the potential for loss due to adverse changes in underlying market factors, such as interest rates  
and foreign exchange rates.

The Board is responsible for approving FCC’s Market and Liquidity Risk Management policy and relies on a number 
of committees, divisions and business units to effectively manage market risk. The market risk policies and limits 
ensure exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks are identified, measured, managed and reported  
on a timely basis. FCC’s policies and processes are based on industry best practices and the Minister of Finance’s 
Financial Risk Management Guidelines for Crown Corporations.

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in the interest rates adversely affects FCC’s net interest income and fair 
value measurements. Interest rate risk arises from interest rate mismatches between assets and liabilities and 
embedded options. Interest rate mismatches occur because of different maturity and repricing dates, residual  
assets funded by equity and different interest rate benchmarks for some assets and liabilities. Embedded options 
exist on fixed-rate loans that have principal deferral options, prepayment features and interest rate guarantees on 
loan commitments.

Exposure to interest rate risk is monitored primarily through an asset and liability model. Various scenarios are 
produced at least monthly to analyze the sensitivity of net interest income and fair values to a change in interest 
rates and balance sheet assumptions. The asset and liability model is back-tested and validated to ensure the logic 
and assumptions used in the model are reasonable when compared to actual results.

Interest rate risk management uses defined limits based on the projected impact of a 2% immediate and sustained 
change in the level and term structure of interest rates. The defined limit for the variability of net interest income is 
that, for the next 12-month period, net interest income should not decline by more than 5%. The second defined 
limit is that the economic value of equity (EVE) should not decline by more than 10% of the total equity (excluding 
AOCI) for a 2% change in interest rates. Based on FCC’s financial position and assuming an immediate and 
sustained 2% change in interest rates occurs across all maturities and curves, net interest income and the EVE 
would be affected over the next 12 months as follows:

  2018 Impact of   2017 Impact of 

   2% 2%  2% 2% 
($ thousands)   increase decrease  increase decrease

Projected net interest income variability $ 13,000 $ (16,300) $ 30,800 $ (34,900) 
Limit   (56,600)  (56,600)  (51,400)  (51,400)

EVE variability   (344,300)  349,600  (323,200)  320,800 
Limit   (599,305)  (599,305)  (565,451)  (565,451)
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The following table summarizes FCC’s interest rate risk based on the gap between the carrying value of assets, and  
liabilities and equity, grouped by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates and interest rate sensitivity. In  
the normal course of business, loan customers frequently prepay their loans in part or in full before the contractual  
maturity date.

      Non-   
As at March 31 Immediately Within 3 – 12  1 – 5 Over  interest Total  
($ thousands) rate-sensitive 3 months months years 5 years sensitive 2018 2017

Assets
Cash and 
 cash equivalents $ 655,335 $ 162,902 $ – $ – $ – $ 10,332 $ 828,569 $ 790,595
  Yield   1.73% 1.51% –  –  –  –  –  –
Short-term 
 investments  –  99,379  297,480  –  –  1,348  398,207  435,530
  Yield (1)  –  0.81% 1.56% –  –  –  –  –
Derivative financial  
 assets (2) (3)  –  (237,994)  –  237,994  –  21,512  21,512  35,831
  Yield (1)  –  1.39% –  4.54% –  –  –  –
Loans receivable  16,928,336  1,814,041  3,594,702  10,064,171  1,073,504  161,265  33,636,019  31,007,050
  Yield (1)  4.30% 4.12% 3.43% 3.78% 4.48%  –  –  –
Finance leases  
 receivable  –  1,499  4,590  13,524  –  –  19,613  16,468
  Yield (1)  –  4.15% 4.15% 4.15% –  –  –  –
Investment in 
 associates  –  –  –  –  –  57,765  57,765  50,908
  Yield  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Venture capital  
 investments  –  –  7,207  62,178  7,000  730  77,115  55,015
  Yield  –  –  10.0% 10.73% 8.75%  –  –  –
Other  –  –  –  –  –  279,133  279,133  622,875

Total assets $ 17,583,671 $ 1,839,827 $ 3,903,979 $ 10,377,867 $ 1,080,504 $ 532,085 $ 35,317,933 $ 33,014,272

Liabilities and equity
Borrowings $ – $ 20,334,545 $ 3,028,215 $ 5,348,065 $ 140,000 $ 48,516 $ 28,899,341 $ 26,924,171
  Yield (1)  –  1.09% 1.17% 1.48% 1.76%  –  –  –
Derivative financial 
 liabilities (2) (3)  –  (12,894)  –  –  12,894  –  –  3
  Yield (1)  –  1.86% –  –  1.75%  –  –  –
Other   –  –  –  –  –  358,823  358,823  349,319
Shareholder’s equity  –  –  –  –  –  6,059,769  6,059,769  5,740,779

Total liabilities  
 and equity $ – $ 20,321,651 $ 3,028,215 $ 5,348,065 $ 152,894 $ 6,467,108 $ 35,317,933 $ 33,014,272

Total gap 2018 $ 17,583,671 $ (18,481,824) $ 875,764 $ 5,029,802 $ 927,610 $ (5,935,023) $ – $ –

Total cumulative  
 gap 2018 $ 17,583,671 $ (898,153) $ (22,389) $ 5,007,413 $ 5,935,023 $ – $ – $ –

Total gap 2017 $ 16,540,780 $ (16,959,078) $ 1,220,711 $ 3,722,795 $ 771,751 $ (5,296,959) $ – $ –

Total cumulative  
 gap 2017 $ 16,540,780 $ (418,298) $ 802,413 $ 4,525,208 $ 5,296,959 $ – $ – $ –

(1) Represents the weighted-average effective yield based on the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity date.

(2)  The notionals for derivatives with a positive fair value have been netted against derivatives with a negative fair value and are included with  
derivative financial assets.

(3) Represents notional principal amounts on derivatives, except for the non-interest sensitive amount.
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Foreign exchange risk 

FCC is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to differences in the amount and timing of foreign currency 
denominated asset and liability cash flows. The currency exposure is minimized by matching foreign currency 
loans against foreign currency funding. This risk cannot be perfectly hedged because the assets are amortizing 
loans and the liabilities are discount bonds, which creates timing mismatches for the principal and interest cash 
flows. However, FCC has determined that the residual risk is insignificant. 

FCC mitigates foreign exchange risk through economic hedges. All foreign currency borrowings are fully  
hedged at the time of issuance, unless the foreign currency denominated debt is used specifically to finance  
a like currency asset. 

Derivatives

FCC uses derivatives to hedge interest rate and foreign exchange risk. Derivatives assist in altering the risk profile 
of the Consolidated Balance Sheet by reducing mismatches of assets and liabilities while ensuring interest rate risk 
and foreign exchange risk are managed within acceptable ranges.

Derivative transactions lead to net income volatility because the derivatives are recorded at fair value and this 
volatility may not be representative of the overall risk.

Post-employment benefits

FCC is exposed to significant financial risks through the registered pension plans’ investments. These financial  
risks are managed by having an Investment policy that is approved annually by management and at a minimum 
every three years by the Board. The Investment policy provides guidelines to the registered pension plans’ 
investment managers for the asset mix of the portfolio regarding quality and quantity of debt, equity and 
alternative investments. The asset mix helps reduce the impact of market value fluctuations by requiring 
investments in different asset classes and in domestic and foreign markets. Investment risk is managed by 
diversification guidelines within the Investment policy. 

The pension plans’ assets are comprised of Canadian Long Bonds that match a portion of the plans’ assets to  
the plans’ liabilities. The current target composition of the plans’ portfolio includes an allocation of 40% of assets 
invested in Canadian Long Bonds, which effectively increases the duration of the assets to better match the plans’ 
liabilities. The Canadian Long Bonds have a duration of 14.9 years and the leveraged Canadian Long Bonds have  
a duration of 46.6 years. Overall, the registered pension plans’ assets are estimated to be 9.8 years while the 
liabilities are estimated to be 19.7 years. The supplemental pension plans’ liabilities are estimated to be 19.6 years 
and the assets have no duration. 

The pension plans’ Funding policy is approved by the Board at a minimum every three years. The policy states  
two primary objectives, which are to fund the pension plans’ benefits, measured on a going concern basis and  
to provide adequate funding for future service benefits in accordance with the applicable law and plan text.  
With respect to the defined benefit provision, FCC will fund any going concern and solvency deficits over the 
statutory minimum and maintains discretion to make additional contributions at any time. 

The Pension Plan Governance policy is approved by the Board at a minimum every three years, and outlines  
the governance structure and responsibilities with respect to the registered and supplemental pension plans  
for the Board, committees and management. The Pension Plan Governance Manual is approved annually by 
management and includes review and monitoring criteria for investment managers and third-party providers  
as well as guidelines for eligible fees and expenses. All fees and expenses paid from the plan are reviewed to 
ensure they are eligible based on the guidelines. 

26. Risk management (continued)



118 | Annual Report 2017-18

Farm Credit Canada – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Insurance 

FCC’s insurance provider determines the reserve for insurance claims actuarially using the Canadian Asset Liability 
Method. The future cash flows from the insurance contracts and the assets that support them are dynamically 
projected in a number of scenarios prescribed by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, using current best estimate 
assumptions with provisions for adverse deviation. FCC engages independent actuaries from time to time to 
review its insurance program to ensure the assumptions, methodologies and processes are prudent.

In calculating the reserve for insurance claims, assumptions must be made about interest rates, asset default, 
inflation, mortality and morbidity rates, lapses, expenses and other factors over the life of the insurance coverage. 
Best estimate assumptions are used for expected future experience. Additional provisions are included in the 
reserve for insurance claims to provide for possible adverse deviations from the best estimate. If the assumption  
is more susceptible to change or if there is more uncertainty about the underlying best estimate assumption,  
a correspondingly larger provision is included in the reserve for insurance claims. 

The provisions are reviewed for reasonableness in aggregate. The best estimate assumptions and margins for 
adverse deviation are reviewed periodically and revisions are made where deemed necessary and prudent. The 
assumptions with the greatest potential impact on net income are mortality, lapses and investment returns. 

Insurance mortality refers to the rates at which death occurs for defined groups of people and is generally based 
on our insurance provider’s experience. Assumed mortality rates do not reflect any future expected improvement.

Assumptions related to investment returns include expected future credit losses on fixed income investments.  
Past corporation experience and industry experience over the long term as well as specific reviews of the current 
portfolio are used to project credit losses.

Lapse assumption is based on FCC’s five-year average.

Expense assumptions are based on FCC’s recent experience using an internal expense allocation methodology.

c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that FCC has insufficient funds to meet payment obligations as they come due. 

The Board is responsible for approving FCC’s Market and Liquidity Risk Management policy and relies on a number 
of committees, divisions and business units to effectively manage liquidity risk. The liquidity risk policies and limits 
ensure FCC’s objective to maintain sufficient funds to meet customer and business operational requirements is 
met. FCC’s policies and processes are based on industry best practices and the Minister of Finance’s Financial Risk 
Management Guidelines for Crown Corporations. 

FCC measures, forecasts and manages cash flow as an integral part of its liquidity management. FCC’s objective  
is to maintain sufficient funds to meet customer and business operational requirements should a market or 
operational event occur, disrupting FCC’s access to funds. The total investment portfolio is targeted to be a 
minimum of 30 calendar days of upcoming cash requirements.

FCC maintains liquidity through:

•  a liquid investment portfolio – cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $1,226.8 million  
were on hand as at March 31, 2018 (2017 – $1,226.1 million)

•  access to short-term funding – FCC’s access to funding through the Crown Borrowing Program and capital 
markets provides FCC with sufficient liquidity to meet daily cash requirements

•  access to a $30.0 million bank operating line of credit
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The following table shows the undiscounted cash flows of FCC’s financial liabilities on the basis of their earliest 
possible contractual maturity. The gross nominal cash flows represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows 
relating to the principal and interest on the financial liability. FCC’s expected cash flows on certain instruments 
vary significantly from this analysis. For example, certain borrowings that may be prepaid by FCC have not been 
included in their earliest possible maturities due to being impracticable to estimate.

Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities
As at March 31 ($ thousands)    2018   

    Gross  
   Carrying nominal Less than 1 – 3  3 – 12  1 – 5 More than  
   value outflow 1 month months months years  5 years

Non-derivative  
 financial liabilities 
Borrowings $ 28,899,341 $ 28,897,580 $ 1,214,223 $ 1,967,512 $ 7,758,724 $ 17,485,565 $ 471,556
Transition loan liability  139,319  141,207  9,989  10,991  35,876  83,631  720

Derivative  
 financial liabilities  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

   $ 29,038,660 $ 29,038,787 $ 1,224,212 $ 1,978,503 $ 7,794,600 $ 17,569,196 $ 472,276

As at March 31 ($ thousands)    2017   

    Gross  
   Carrying nominal Less than 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 More than 
   value outflow 1 month months months years 5 years

Non-derivative  
 financial liabilities 
Borrowings $ 26,924,171 $ 26,921,893 $ 1,302,235 $ 1,669,051 $ 7,458,670 $ 16,229,065 $ 262,872
Transition loan liability  130,024  131,482  3,810  8,857  38,624  79,648  543

Derivative  
 financial liabilities  3  3  3  –  –  –  –

   $ 27,054,198 $ 27,053,378 $ 1,306,048 $ 1,677,908 $ 7,497,294 $ 16,308,713 $ 263,415

27. Subsequent events 
The Board approved the consolidated financial statements on May 30, 2018. There were no subsequent events 
requiring recognition or disclosure within the consolidated financial statements between March 31, 2018, and the 
date of approval.
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